
 
 

Cotswold District Council, Trinity Road, Cirencester, Gloucestershire, GL7 1PX 

Tel: 01285 623000 www.cotswold.gov.uk 

 

 

 
Tuesday, 12 September 2023 

 
Tel: 01285 623181/623208 

e-mail - democratic@cotswold.gov.uk 

 

COUNCIL 

 
A meeting of the Council will be held at Council Chamber - Trinity Road on Wednesday, 20 

September 2023 at 6.00 pm. 

 

 
 

Rob Weaver 

Chief Executive 

 

 

To: Members of the Council 

(Councillors Gina Blomefield, Claire Bloomer, Ray Brassington, Patrick Coleman, Daryl Corps,  

David Cunningham, Tony Dale, Mike Evemy, David Fowles, Joe Harris, Mark Harris, Paul  

Hodgkinson, Roly Hughes, Nikki Ind, Angus Jenkinson, Julia Judd, Juliet Layton, Andrew Maclean,  

Helene Mansilla, Mike McKeown, Clare Muir, Dilys Neill, Nigel Robbins, Gary Selwyn, Tony Slater,  

Lisa Spivey, Tom Stowe, Jeremy Theyer, Clare Turner, Chris Twells, Michael Vann, Jon Wareing,  

Ian Watson and Len Wilkins) 

 
Recording of Proceedings – The law allows the public proceedings of Council, Cabinet, and 

Committee Meetings to be recorded, which includes filming as well as audio-recording.  

Photography is also permitted. 

 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record any part of the proceedings please let the 

Committee Administrator know prior to the date of the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.cotswold.gov.uk/


 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  

 

2.   Declarations of Interest  

To receive any declarations of interest from Members and Officers, relating to 

items to be considered at the meeting. 

 

3.   Minutes (Pages 9 - 18) 

To confirm the minutes of the meeting of Council held on 19th July 2023.  

 

4.   Announcements from the Chair, Leader of Chief Executive (if any)  

 

5.   Public Questions  

To deal with questions from the public within the open forum question and answer 

session of fifteen minutes in total. Questions from each member of the public should be 

no longer than one minute each and relate to issues under the Council’s remit. At any 

one meeting no person may submit more than two questions and no more than two 

such questions may be asked on behalf of one organisation. 

 

The Chair will ask whether any members of the public present at the meeting wish to 

ask a question and will decide on the order of questioners. 

 

The response may take the form of: 

a) a direct oral answer; 

b) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other 

published work, a reference to that publication; or 

c) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer circulated 

later to the questioner. 
 

6.   Member Questions  

A Member of the Council may ask the Chair, the Leader, a Cabinet Member or the 

Chair of any Committee a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has 

powers or duties or which affects the Cotswold District. A maximum period of fifteen 

minutes shall be allowed at any such meeting for Member questions. 

 

A Member may only ask a question if:  

a) the question has been delivered in writing or by electronic mail to the Chief 

Executive no later than 5.00 p.m. on the working day before the day of the 

meeting; or 

b) the question relates to an urgent matter, they have the consent of the Chair to 

whom the question is to be put and the content of the question is given to the 

Chief Executive by 9.30 a.m. on the day of the meeting. 

 

An answer may take the form of: 

a) a direct oral answer; 

b) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other 

published work, a reference to that publication; or 

c) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer circulated 

Page 2



 

later to the questioner. 

 

 

The following questions have been submitted prior to the publication of the agenda:  

 

Question 1 from Councillor Tom Stowe to Councillor Mike McKeown, Cabinet Member 

for Climate Change and Sustainability 

 

In December last year, your predecessor, Cllr Coxcoon, stated her position that tourists 

travelling to the Cotswolds via air travel should be deterred. Please could you confirm 

the Cabinet's current position on promoting the Cotswolds as a place to visit for air 

travellers? 

 

Question 2 from Councillor Julia Judd to Councillor Juliet Layton, Cabinet Member for 

Planning and Regulatory Services 

 

CDC recently issued a Press Release about the planning department including new 

information about recruitment. How many vacancies are there currently and will that 

mean that the planning department will be running at full capacity for the foreseeable 

future? 

 

Question 3 from Councillor Tom Stowe to Councillor Paul Hodgkinson, Cabinet 

Member for Health, Leisure and Culture  

 

Please could you confirm the total costs to CDC of hosting the upcoming Mr Motivator 

event on Sunday 1st October? 

 

Question 4 from Councillor Len Wilkins to Councillor Joe Harris, Leader of the Council 

 

There have been some recent high profile cyber security attacks on several private and 
public organisations. This threat is likely to continue to grow over the coming years. To 

counter this growing threat it’s vital that organisations have a policy of continuous 

improvement in cyber security practice to support the security, resilience and integrity 

of digital services, data and systems. Does the council have a formal published cyber-

security policy?” 

 

Question 5 from Councillor Gina Blomefield to Councillor Paul Hodgkinson, Cabinet 

Member for Health, Leisure and Culture  

 

A local resident from the farming community raised concerns with me regarding the 

future of the very important collection of old agricultural equipment currently displayed 

at the Old Prison, Northleach.  I followed this up and subsequently had a meeting with 

Emma Stuart of the Corinium Museum together with Dr Alison Grierson-Brooks at the 

Old Prison and also met three of the volunteers who work on the conservation of the 

objects.  As I understand it the collection is owned by the Corinium Museum which in 

turned is owned by Cotswold District Council.  Many of the pieces in the collection are 

‘accessional’ and were accepted by the Government in lieu of death duties so cannot be 

sold. Friends of the Cotswolds bought the Old Prison from CDC in 2012-2013 and 

agreed to house and maintain the collection there. A review of the display with a 

condition report was due to have been carried out in July 2022 but was never done. 

 

What are the plans for the future of this historic collection of farm equipment which I 

Page 3



 

feel should be given greater care and more publicity so that more people now as well as 

future generations can learn about farming methods before the advent of modern 

machinery and enjoy seeing these fascinating objects? 

 

Question 6 from Councillor Gina Blomefield to Councillor Mike Evemy, Deputy Leader 

and Cabinet Member for Finance  

 

I read the latest Ubico newsletter with interest, particularly regarding the visit to Oak 

Quarry Household Recycling Centre in Coleford by students from the Heart of the 

Forest Special School.  I am frequently asked questions regarding recycling by residents – 

where it goes, how it is organised and the proceeds from it.  Could a visit to this 

recycling facility for all interested District Councillors be arranged so that we could see 

for ourselves how this important service is managed by Ubico 

 

Question 7 from Councillor David Fowles to Councillor Mike Evemy, Deputy Leader 

and Cabinet Member for Finance  

 

Given the national concern over public buildings constructed using RAAC concrete, 

could the leader confirm that no buildings owned by CDC were constructed using this 

material. 

 

If CDC does not have this information, will the leader confirm what plans he has to 

reassure members of the public that our buildings are safe? 

 

Question 8 from Councillor Daryl Corps to Councillor Joe Harris, Leader of the 

Council 

 

Historically all Council meetings were held during the working day. When the Liberal 

Democrats took power in 2019, the times of meetings were reviewed and changed so 

that a number of meetings now take place in the evenings. 
 

This change was designed to allow elected members who worked to attend meetings as 

well as giving members of the public more flexibility. 

 

Since 2019 we have been through Covid, introduced agile working for staff and held local 

elections resulting in a large number of newly elected members who in many instances 

have to attend Parish Council meetings and other meetings in the evenings. 

 

We have experienced many instances where staff are not available in the evenings and 

members have meeting clashes and conflict. 

 

I believe the schedule of meeting times doesn’t work and needs to be changed as a 

priority. 

 

Please could the portfolio holder undertake a review? 

 

 

Question 9 from Councillor Nikki Ind to Councillor Mike McKeown, Cabinet Member 

Climate Change and Sustainability 

 

Further to the recent announcement that the first funding for rural electric buses via the 

Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas programme is being made available to all local 

Page 4



 

authorities in England outside of London, can you please confirm that Cotswold District 

Council is working with Gloucestershire County Council to apply for this funding to 

provide rural transport, which is lacking in the District and particularly in my area in the 

south – which missed out on the Robin ‘on demand’ trial currently being run in the 

north of the District. 

 

 

7.   Establishment of a Working Group for Boundary Reviews (Pages 19 - 24) 

Purpose 

To seek the approval of Council to create a Working Group to oversee the Local 

Government Boundary Review and Polling District Review which are due to take place 

in the next 2 years and agree Terms of Reference for the Group. 

 

Recommendations 

That Council resolves to: 

1. Agree to the creation of a Working Group for Boundary Reviews  

2. Agree the Draft Terms of Reference for the group outlined in Annex A 

3. Note that Group Leaders are asked to confirm the nominated members to the 

Electoral Services Manager or Chief Executive 

 

8.   A review of the Cotswold District Local Plan housing requirement (Pages 25 - 90) 

Purpose 

To agree that Full Council should approve the Review of the Cotswold District Local 

Plan 2011-2031 Housing Requirement, which finds that the local housing need of the 

district has not changed significantly and that the minimum housing requirement 

provided by the Cotswold District Local Plan does not require updating. 

 

Recommendation 

That subject to the agreement of Cabinet on 12th September 2023,  

that Council resolves to; 
1) Agree to recommend to Full Council to approve the review of the Cotswold 

District Local Plan 2011-2031 housing requirement. 

 

9.   Appointment of two Independent Persons to the Audit & Governance Committee 

(Pages 91 - 94) 

Purpose 

To appoint two appropriately skilled and experienced members of the public to be 

“independent members” of the Audit & Governance Committee. 

 

Recommendations 

The Council resolves to: 

1) Appoint John Chesshire and Christopher Bass to the Council’s Audit & 

Governance Committee for a four year term, commencing immediately.  

 

 

10.   Amendments to the Constitution - Recommendations of the Constitution Working 

Group (Pages 95 - 100) 

Purpose 

To consider proposals from the Constitution Working Group for  

amendments to the Constitution to i) create a Standards Sub-Committee, ii) recruit up 

to two town or parish Councillors to advise Members in respect of hearings where the 

subject member is a town or parish councillor, and, iii) a change to the call-in 

Page 5



 

arrangements for Cabinet/Individual Cabinet Member Decisions to reflect a the Council’s 

political balance arising from the May 2023 local elections. 

 

Recommendations 

That Council resolves to: 

1) Agree to establish a Standards Hearing Sub-Committee (of the Audit and 

Governance Committee). This would be a politically balanced 3-member sub-

committee with membership appointed by the Committee each year.  

2) Instruct the Director of Governance & Development (Monitoring Officer) to 

recruit up to two town and parish council representatives to act as a non-voting 

consultee(s) at hearings to determine whether a town or parish councillor has 

breached their council’s code of conduct. 

3) Authorise the Director of Governance & Development (Monitoring Officer) to 

update i) Part B, Article 8 of the Constitution with consequential amendments to 

the Audit & Governance Committee’s membership  

4) Authorise the Director of Governance & Development (Monitoring Officer) to 

update Part D6, paragraph 4.13, Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules. 

 

11.   Petition received in relation to Visitor Information Centres (Pages 101 - 104) 

Purpose 

For Council to consider a petition submitted under the Local Petition Scheme (Part F of 

the Constitution). 

 

Recommendations 

That Council resolves to either; 

1) Refer the petition to Cabinet as the decision-maker for the request to be 

considered.  

2) Refer the petition to Overview and Scrutiny Committee for review.  

3) Note the petition and take no further action. 

 

12.   Notice of Motions  

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 12, the following Motions have been 

received:- 

 

Rail Ticket Offices Motion 

 

Proposed by Councillor Paul Hodgkinson and seconded by Councillor Angus Jenkinson 

 

Council notes with concern the announcement by the Rail Delivery Group that train 

companies are pressing ahead with plans to close up to 1000 rail ticket offices across 

England over the next 3 years. 

Council believes that ticket offices provide a vital service to residents in the 

Cotswolds. Having a clearly sign-posted place in the station for people with ticket 

enquiries provides certainty and confidence for customers who may struggle to 

otherwise locate station staff.   

Council is concerned the closure of ticket offices will disproportionately affect elderly 

Page 6



 

and disabled residents in the Cotswolds – as well as those with poor IT skills. 

Council notes the statistics from Age UK that 3 million elderly people in the UK do not 

have access to the internet, and statistics from the Royal National Institute for Blind 

People that only 3% of those with partial or full sight loss feel able to use ticket 

machines. 

Council is also concerned about the possible implications for current station staff and 

the concerns that have been raised over possible staff redundancies – given that there 

will be no regulations for minimum staffing levels at stations and on platforms.  

Council therefore resolves to: 

 Instruct the Chief Executive to write to Mark Harper MP Secretary of State 

for Transport, and the Chief Executive of the Rail Delivery Group, expressing 

Council’s opposition to the possible closure of staffed rail ticket offices – and 

in particular the office(s) at Moreton in Marsh, Kemble and Kingham. 

 Instruct the Chief Executive to write to Great Western Railway expressing 

the Council’s opposition to any plans to close the staffed ticket office(s) 

at Moreton in Marsh, Kemble and Kingham. 

 Refer this issue to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the 

recommendation that representatives from Great Western Railway are 

invited to attend a Scrutiny Meeting at the earliest possible point to discuss 

future plans for ticket offices and staffing at our local stations. 

 

Grey Water Motion 

 

Proposed by Councillor Julia Judd, and seconded by Councillor Andrew Maclean 

 

Thames Water believes that limiting water use and runoff could help to stop the outflow 

of sewage into rivers from its systems. In 2020, this occurred for more than 200,000 

hours. 

 

Much of the CDC district is within Thames Water catchment, one of the worst for leaks 

losing about 25% across its network which is classed as under serious water stress. 

Cirencester and our Trinity Road offices of Cotswold District Council are within 

Thames Water district.  

 

The Environment Agency has warned that parts of England could run out of water within 

25 years as a result of growing demand from a rising population and the impacts of 

climate change, and has called for household water use to be cut by a third.  We already 

experience periods of drought followed by periods of deluge and as a responsible 

authority, we should be doing our utmost to mitigate predictable catastrophes. 

 

It is this Council’s duty to do our utmost to achieve water neutrality.  To promote water 

saving technology, through our Planning and Building Regulations advice and 

policies.  Examples such as low-flow systems, which use less water and pressure, and 

systems that use grey water should be the ambition for larger developments in the 

Cotswolds. Water butts should be encouraged for all properties and can easily and 

cheaply be retro-fitted. Capturing peak storm water flows and helping to prevent storm 

Page 7

https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2022/02/15/river-pollution-investigation-will-take-years-regulator-admits/


 

related sewage discharges is particularly relevant to older properties in towns and 

villages where there is a greater chance of "combined" sewerage systems. 

 

Therefore this motion requests that Council:  

 

 Endorses the use of rainwater and greywater systems to achieve water 

neutrality.  

 Request that officers investigate how rainwater and greywater systems can be 

promoted for use in developments and properties in the wider District. 

 Request that officers investigate how rainwater and/or greywater systems 

could be applied to Council assets such as the Council Offices, Trinity Road. 

 Request that the findings of these requests be delivered by officers through a 

briefing note to Members’.  

 
 

13.   Next meeting  

The next meeting of Full Council will be on Wednesday 22nd November 2023. 

 

14.   Matters exempt from publication  

If Council wishes to exclude the press and the public from the meeting during 

consideration of any of the items on the exempt from publication part of the agenda, it 

will be necessary for Council to pass a resolution in accordance with the provisions of 

section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that their presence 

could involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as described in specific 

paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 

Council may maintain the exemption if and so long as, in all the circumstances of the 

case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 

disclosing the information. 

 

15.   Exempt minutes from the meeting on 19th July 2023 (Pages 105 - 108) 

Purpose 

To approve the minutes from the 19th July 2023, if they have not already been done so at 

Agenda Item 3 

 

 

(END) 

Page 8



 

 
Council 

19/July2023 

 
 

 
Minutes of a meeting of Council held on Wednesday, 19 July 2023. 

 

 

Councillors present: 

Nikki Ind  Mark Harris   

Gina Blomefield 

Claire Bloomer 

Ray Brassington 

Patrick Coleman 

Daryl Corps 

David Cunningham 

Tony Dale 

Mike Evemy 

Joe Harris 

 

Paul Hodgkinson 

Angus Jenkinson 

Julia Judd 

Juliet Layton 

Helene Mansilla 

Mike McKeown 

Clare Muir 

Gary Selwyn 

Tony Slater 

 

Lisa Spivey 

Tom Stowe 

Jeremy Theyer 

Clare Turner 

Michael Vann 

Jon Wareing 

Ian Watson 

Len Wilkins 

 

 

Officers present: 

 

Robert Weaver, Chief Executive Officer 

Andrew Brown, Democratic Services Business 

Manager 

Angela Claridge, Director of Governance and 

Development (Monitoring Officer) 

Chris Crookall-Fallon, Head of Climate Action 

 

Ciaran Okane, Senior Procurement Business 

Partner 

David Stanley, Deputy Chief Executive and 

Chief Finance Officer 

Ana Prelici, Democratic Services Officer 

 

 

 

40 Apologies  

 
Apologies were received from Councillors David Fowles, Dilys Neill, Roly Hughes, Chris 

Twells, Andrew Maclean and Nigel Robbins. 

 

41 Declarations of Interest  

 

Councillor Clare Turner declared an interest, as she had invested in the Cotswold Municipal 

Investment fund. Prior to the meeting, Councillor Turner had sought advice from the 

Monitoring Officer, who advised that since the rate of return on the investment bonds was 

fixed, no personal financial gain could be made from the decision on the Commercial Solar 

Photovoltaic Installation decision. Councillor Turner was therefore advised that she could fully 

participate in full on the item ‘Commercial Solar Photovoltaic Installations on Council Assets’ 

item. 

 

42 Minutes  

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



Council 

19/July2023 

The Chair stated that the agenda item included the consideration of exempt minutes. The 

Chair advised that members should indicate at this point whether they wished to enter into 

private session to discuss these later in the meeting.   

 

The Chair explained that the minutes would be voted on in two parts.  

 

An error in the minutes of the 25th May was brought to the attention of Democratic Services. 

This had already been corrected in the online version of the minutes. 

 

The Chair reminded new Members that they should abstain on the minutes of the 13th March, 

as this meeting had taken place prior to their election. 

 

RESOLVED: That Council approve the minutes of the meeting held on 13 March 2023.  

 

Voting record: For- 14, Against – 0, Abstentions 4 

 

For Against Abstentions/ Did not 

vote 

Claire Bloomer  Angus Jenkinson 

Gary Selwyn  Clare Muir 

Gina Blomefield  Clare Turner 

Joe Harris  Daryl Corps 

Julia Judd  David Cunningham 

Juliet Layton  Helene Mansilla 

Lisa Spivey  Ian Watson 

Mark Harris  Jeremy Theyer 

Mike Evemy  Jon Wareing 

Nikki Ind  Len Wilkins 

Patrick Coleman  Michael Vann 

Ray Brassington  Paul Hodgkinson 

Tom Stowe  Tony Slater 

Tony Dale  Mike KcKeown 

 

 

RESOLVED: That Council approve the minutes of the meeting held on 25 May 2023. 

 

Voting record: For 25, Against 0, Abstain 2 

 

For Against Abstentions/ Did not 

vote 

Angus Jenkinson  Paul Hodgkinson 

Claire Bloomer  David Cunningham 

Clare Muir  Ian Watson 

Clare Turner   

Daryl Corps   

Gary Selwyn   

Gina Blomefield   

Helene Mansilla   

Jeremy Theyer   

Joe Harris   

Jon Wareing   

Page 10



Council 

19/July2023 

Julia Judd   

Juliet Layton   

Len Wilkins   

Lisa Spivey   

Mark Harris   

Michael Vann   

Mike Evemy   

Mike McKeown   

Nikki Ind   

Patrick Coleman   

Paul Hodgkinson   

Tony Slater   

Ray Brassington   

Tom Stowe   

Tony Dale   

 

43 Announcements from the Chair, Leader or Chief Executive (if any)  

 

The Chair reminded Members in attendance that there would be Scrutiny training delivered 

on the 19th of July by the centre for Governance and Scrutiny.  

 

The Chair also reminded Members in attendance of the online ‘Cyberninja’ Cyber Security 

training which was mandatory for all members to complete by the end of September. 

 

The Chair stated that since their appointment they had represented the Council at numerous 

events which all  attested to how rich and vibrant the district was. The Chair looked forward 

to continuing to meet with more residents and attending further community events 

throughout their tenure.  

 

The Leader welcomed the Chair’s announcements, and attested to the important roles that 

the Chair and Vice-Chair play in representing the Council in the community.  

 

The Leader stated that there was ongoing work to update the Council’s corporate plan, which 

would be taken to the full Council meeting in January. 

 

44 Public Questions  

 

There were no public questions. 

 

45 Member Questions  

 

The questions submitted by Members were published alongside their answers, with the 

agenda. The supplementary questions asked during the meeting are included in Annex A. 

 

46 Updated Procurement and Contract Management Strategy  
 

The purpose of the item was to present and seek Council’s approval of an updated draft 

Procurement and Contract Management Strategy. 

 

The Deputy Leader, as the Cabinet Member for Finance, introduced the item. The Deputy 

Leader highlighted the key points in the report, stating that the purpose of reviewing the 

Page 11



Council 

19/July2023 

strategy was to ensure that Publica obtains value for money, as well as social value and 

minimising climate impact when procuring its services.  

 

The Deputy Leader also highlighted to Council that the approval of the strategy was subject to 

the inclusion of the missing figure on page 52 of the report pack “£26m”, which represented 

the combined spending across the Publica Councils. 

 

The Deputy Leader stated that the strategy had been reviewed by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, and welcomed their input. It was clarified that the procurement strategy referred 

to how Publica, as the Council’s Teckal company, procured services on its behalf. It was noted 

that this was not about how the Council procured services through Publica.   

 

Members welcomed the proposal, and asked how social value would be measured, and how 

the use of small businesses would be encouraged through the strategy. The Deputy Leader 

stated that there was criteria such as carbon impact for a low travel distance that would 

encourage local suppliers. Local businesses would also be encouraged to bid for contracts 

through the work of the economic development team. The Deputy Leader caveated this by 

saying that the procurement matrix was required to be robust and be able to stand up to 

challenge. 

 

Members made reference to the environmental aspects of the strategy on page 41 of the 

report pack, and asked whether the reduction of other greenhouse gases (such as methane 

and hydrofluorocarbons) could be incorporated into the report. The Senior Procurement 

Business Partner stated that this would be added include in the final strategy. 

 
Members also made reference to the delivery of “large contracts” on page 44 and asked if this 

term had an explicit definition. The Senior Procurement Business Partner stated that the 

definition was defined by the Government, but that this was likely to change soon. 

 

Councillor Mike Evemy proposed the recommendations. Councillor Joe Harris seconded the 

recommendations, and highlighted that the strategy was a positive force for delivering social 

value. Councillor Joe Harris stated that the strategy allowed the Council to maximise the 

efficiency of its resources when delivering services. 

 

RESOLVED: That Council APPROVE the updated Procurement and Contract Management 

Strategy. 

 

Voting record – For – 26, Against 0, Abstention 1 

 

 

For Against Abstention/ Did not 

vote 

Angus Jenkinson  Ray Brassington 

Claire Bloomer  David Cunningham 

Clare Muir   

Clare Turner   

Daryl Corps   

Gary Selwyn   

Gina Blomefield   

Helene Mansilla   

Jeremy Theyer   

Page 12



Council 

19/July2023 

Joe Harris   

Jon Wareing   

Julia Judd   

Juliet Layton   

Len Wilkins   

Lisa Spivey   

Mark Harris   

Michael Vann   

Mike Evemy   

Mike McKeown   

Nikki Ind   

Patrick Coleman   

Paul Hodgkinson   

Tony Slater   

Tom Stowe   

Tony Dale   

Ian Watson   

 

47 Outside Bodies Appointments Update  

 

The purpose of the item was to appoint members and substitute members to the Health 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny 

Committee. This followed the decision of Annual Council to defer the appointment of 

members to non-executive outside bodies subject clarity on the correct procedure. 

 
Councillor Joe Harris introduced and proposed the item, and stated that that the procedure 

for appointing to outside bodies would be clarified with the Constitution Working Group.  

 

Councillor Juliet Layton seconded the proposal, complimenting the qualifications and expertise 

and ability of the appointed members.  

 

Members welcomed the appointments and made positive remarks on the suitability of those 

appointed.  

 

RESOLVED: That Council:  

 

1) APPOINT Councillor Dilys Neill to the Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee with Councillor Nigel Robbins as substitute; 

 

2)    APPOINT Councillor Angus Jenkinson to the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny 

Committee, with Councillor Patrick Coleman as substitute. 

 

Voting Record – For 26, Against 0, Abstention 2  

 

For Against Abstain/ Did not vote 

Claire Bloomer  Angus Jenkinson 

Clare Muir  David Cunningham 

Clare Turner   

Daryl Corps   

Gary Selwyn   

Gina Blomefield   

Page 13



Council 

19/July2023 

Helene Mansilla   

Jeremy Theyer   

Joe Harris   

Jon Wareing   

Julia Judd   

Juliet Layton   

Len Wilkins   

Lisa Spivey   

Mark Harris   

Michael Vann   

Mike Evemy   

Mike McKeown   

Nikki Ind   

Patrick Coleman   

Paul Hodgkinson   

Tony Slater   

Tom Stowe   

Tony Dale   

Ian Watson   

Ray Brassington   

 

48 Notice of Motions  

 

There were no motions submitted for the meeting. 

 

49 Next meeting  

 

Before proceeding to the following item, the Chair reminded members of the public that the 

next meeting would take place on the 20th September.  

 

50 Commercial Solar Photovoltaic Installations on Council Assets  

 

Before the item was discussed, the Chair advised Members to refrain from commenting on the 

exempt annexes in public session and to avoid divulging the confidential information contained 

within those annexes. Members were advised to propose entering into private session before 

discussing the exempt annexes.  

 

The purpose of the item was to seek agreement to:  

1) invest in the installation of solar photovoltaic (PV) on the roofs of buildings owned and 

in some cases leased by the Council based on the business cases set out within the 
report and; 

2) enter into a contract with the preferred contractor for the installation of the solar PV. 

 

The Deputy Leader introduced the item and explained that work was already underway to fix 

the roof at Trinity Road, and that Members were only being asked to consider whether to 

mount the solar PV onto the buildings as specified in the report and its annexes.  

 

The Deputy Leader stated that the funds for the project had been raised through the 

Cotswold Municipal Investment Fund, which was intended to fund environmental projects. 

£27,000 from the Council’s Priorities Fund would be earmarked as a 10% contingency, to 

allow for unexpected costs. 

Page 14



Council 

19/July2023 

 

The Cabinet Member for Climate Change and Sustainability seconded the item, and explained 

that he viewed the proposal as a vital step in tackling climate change, making specific reference 

to the adverse weather across Europe. The Cabinet Member also added that the solar panels 

would have very high rates of return, and were a fiscally sound decision. 

 

Members stated that the Business Manager for Democratic Services had advised that the 

certain information contained in the exempt annexes could be discussed in public session, but 

the Chair stated that for simplicity and to avoid Members accidentally revealing confidential 

information, a private session should be proposed if the exempt annexes were to be 

discussed. The information would be published with the minutes of the meeting.  

 

Members noted that this project represented a partial spend of the Community Municipal 

Investment fund, and asked what other plans for it would be. 

The Deputy Chief Executive stated that plans for utilising the funds also included installing 

Electric Vehicle Charging points. 

 

Members asked if a 10% contingency was sufficient, given the volatility of the market. The 

Deputy Chief Executive stated that the contingency was to enable the delivery of the business 

plan, this would be revisited if needed. 

 

51 Matters exempt from publication  

 

Following the questions that Members had asked in public session, the motion for Council to 

enter private session was proposed by Councillor Joe Harris and seconded by Councillor Lisa 
Spivey. 

 

RESOLVED: That Council exclude the public and press for the remainder of the meeting 

under section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that their presence 

could involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as described in Paragraph 3 of 

Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, with the public interest in maintaining the 

exemption outweighing the public interest in disclosing the exempt information. 

 

Voting record- For 27, Against 0, Abstention 1 

 

For Against Abstention/ Did not 

vote 

Angus Jenkinson  David Cunningham 

Claire Bloomer   

Clare Muir   

Clare Turner   

Daryl Corps   

Gary Selwyn   

Gina Blomefield   

Helene Mansilla   

Jeremy Theyer   

Joe Harris   

Jon Wareing   

Julia Judd   

Juliet Layton   

Len Wilkins   

Page 15



Council 

19/July2023 

Lisa Spivey   

Mark Harris   

Michael Vann   

Mike Evemy   

Mike Mckeown   

Nikki Ind   

Patrick Coleman   

Paul Hodgkinson   

Tony Slater   

Tom Stowe   

Tony Dale   

Ian Watson   

Ray Brassington   

 

52 Exempt Minutes of Full Council on 15th March 2023  

 

Councillor Blomefield stated that no response had been received from the responsible officer 

to her question from 15 March 2023. The Democratic Services Manager said they would 

follow up on this.   

 

The exempt minutes were approved together with the public minutes in earlier in the agenda, 

so were not discussed further. 

 

53 Exempt Annexes for Agenda Item 11  

 

 

RESOLVED: That Council: 

1) Agree to proceed with investment in roof mounted solar PV based on 

the business cases in this report, and that, 

2) Agree to allocate funding for contingency costs of £27,000 from the 

Council Priorities Fund with delegation to the Deputy Chief Executive 

and Section 151 Officer to allocate subject to the business case still 

being viable or expenditure being unavoidable due to structural 

condition of the building. 

 
Voting record- For 27, Against 0, Abstention 1 

 

For Against Abstention/ Did not 

vote 

Angus Jenkinson  David Cunningham 

Claire Bloomer   

Clare Muir   

Clare Turner   

Daryl Corps   

Gary Selwyn   

Gina Blomefield   

Helene Mansilla   

Jeremy Theyer   

Joe Harris   

Jon Wareing   

Julia Judd   

Page 16



Council 

19/July2023 

Juliet Layton   

Len Wilkins   

Lisa Spivey   

Mark Harris   

Michael Vann   

Mike Evemy   

Mike McKeown   

Nikki Ind   

Patrick Coleman   

Paul Hodgkinson   

Tony Slater   

Tom Stowe   

Tony Dale   

Ian Watson   

Ray Brassington   

 

 

The Meeting commenced at 6.00 pm and closed at 7.45 pm 

 

 

Chair 

 

(END) 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 

Council name COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and date of 

Committee 

FULL COUNCIL - 20 SEPTEMBER 2023 

Subject ESTABLISHMENT OF A BOUNDARY REVIEW WORKING GROUP  

Wards affected All 

Accountable member Councillor Joe Harris, Leader of the Council 

Email: joe.harris@cotswold.gov.uk  

Accountable officer 

 
Robert Weaver, Chief Executive Officer 

Email: robert.weaver@cotswold.gov.uk  

Report author Sarah Dalby, Electoral Services Manager  

Email: sarah.dalby@cotswold.gov.uk     

Summary/Purpose To seek the approval of Council to create a Working Group to oversee 

the Local Government Boundary Review and Polling District Review 
which are due to take place in the next 2 years and agree Terms of 

Reference for the Group. 

Annexes Annex A – Draft Terms of Reference for Working Group 

Recommendation(s) That Council resolves to: 

1. Agree to the creation of a Working Group for Boundary Reviews  

2. Agree the Draft Terms of Reference for the group outlined in 

Annex A 

3. Note that Group Leaders are asked to confirm the nominated 

members to the Electoral Services Manager or Chief Executive 

Corporate priorities ● Deliver the highest standard of service 

 

Key Decision NO 

Exempt NO 

Consultees/ 

Consultation  

An initial meeting was held with the Deputy Leader of the Council, 

Leader of the Opposition, Chief Executive and Electoral Services Manager 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7

mailto:joe.harris@cotswold.gov.uk
mailto:robert.weaver@cotswold.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.dalby@cotswold.gov.uk


 
 

 
 
 

to provide detail on the boundary review processes and discuss options 

for cross-party working. 

 

  

Page 20



 
 

 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 This report considers the creation of a Working Group to assist Council meet the 

requirements of both the Local Government Boundary Review and Polling District Review. 

1.2 The Working Group will consider the detail of these reviews, working with senior officers 

to prepare reports and recommendations to Council as necessary for each of the review 

processes in line with agreed timeframes. 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 Due to changes in population across the District since the last Boundary Review in 2015, 

the Local Government Boundary Commission have indicated that they will conduct a review 

of District Ward boundaries beginning in Spring 2024.  The review will consider council size 

and warding arrangements with any changes implemented at the next ordinary elections in 

May 2027.   

2.2 The Council is required to undertake a review of all polling districts, places and stations 

between 1 October 2023 and 31 January 2025.  This review needs to be undertaken before 

any changes to District boundaries are agreed.  However, a further review may be required 

once any new District boundaries are identified to ensure polling stations are still 

convenient for electors. 

 

3. CREATION OF WORKING GROUP 

3.1 The Draft Terms of Reference are attached at Annex A setting out the scope of the 

Working Group.  

3.2 The Working Group will be asked to consider proposals to be made to the Local 

Government Boundary Commission relating to the size of the Council and any subsequent 

warding arrangements.  It will also be asked to consider any relevant changes to polling 

districts and polling stations within the District. 

3.3 The Working Party will make recommendations to Council for consideration and decision.  

Reports will be submitted in line with agreed timetables and deadlines for submission of 

proposals. 

3.4 The draft terms of reference sets out the allocation of seats to political groups (in 

accordance with political balance).  

3.5 Group Leaders are requested to confirm their group’s nominated members to the Electoral 

Services Manager or Chief Executive.  

 

Page 21



 
 

 
 
 

4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

4.1 The Council could consider proposals brought to Council from officers without cross-party 

input beforehand. However, it is felt that cross-party input would be favourable when 

considering these proposals.  

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 There are no direct financial implications at this stage.  

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 There are no legal implications arising directly from this proposal. 

 

7. RISK ASSESSMENT 

7.1 The boundary reviews will consider both the number of councillors and warding 

arrangements.  A cross-party Working Group will help members have a more detailed look 

at the options for council size and ward boundaries.   

7.2 If a Working Group is not established there is a risk that decisions will not be as robust and 

considered as they could be with a group in place.   

8. EQUALITIES IMPACT 

8.1 The Returning Officer has a duty to ensure that polling stations are accessible to all electors 

and therefore Council must include consideration of this when making recommendations as 

part of the Polling District Review. 

9. CLIMATE AND ECOLOGICAL EMERGENCIES IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 None 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

10.1 None 

 

(END) 

 

Page 22



 

BOUNDARY REVIEW WORKING GROUP  

PROPOSED TERMS OF REFERENCE V1.0 
 

1.  Purpose 

The Working Group is established to: 

 

To work with senior officers to oversee and ensure cross-party involvement in progressing the review 

of Council size and the ward boundaries in the District by the Local Government Boundary 

Commission for England (LGBCE). 

 

1. To formulate draft recommendations to the LGBCE for consideration by the Council relating 

to: 

a. the total number of Councillors of the Council; 

b. the number and boundaries of electoral wards for the purposes of the election of 

Councillors; 

c. the number of Councillors to be returned by any electoral division; and 

d. the name of any electoral area. 

 

2. To make recommendations to the Council on its future electoral cycle if considered 

appropriate. 

 

3. To advise the Council, in consultation with officers, on proposals relating to any wider 

“Community Governance Review” of local democratic and electoral arrangements, which 

emerge as a result of the current review process. 

 

4. To advise Council, in consultation with officers on proposals relating to the statutory Polling 

District Review due to be undertaken between 1 October 2023 and 31 January 2025. 

5. To advise Council, in consultation with officers, on proposals relating to a Polling District 

Review which are considered relevant as a result of the Local Government Boundary Review 

 

2. Membership  

The Boundary Review Working Group shall comprise of 7 members, made up of 4 x Liberal 

Democrats, 2 x Conservatives, 1 x Green.  This allocation is in accordance with the political balance 

of Groups.  Independent Councillors may be invited to observe should they wish to do so. 

3. Chair 

The Chair of the Boundary Review Working Group will be appointed at the first meeting.  

4. Voting 

Page 23



 
Any vote will be subject to a simple majority. In simple majority voting the Chair will have a casting 

vote.  

5. Quorum  

The quorum of a meeting of the Boundary Review Working Group will be three Members.  

6. Frequency of Meetings  

The Boundary Review Working Group will meet at least every two months unless there is need to 

meet more frequently with prior notification. All meetings will be held in private. 

Dates of meetings will be set to ensure that any deadlines for submission of comments to the various 

reviews are met. 

As the Working Group will be discussing revisions of boundaries, it is likely to use interactive 

mapping systems to consider options,  it will be more appropriate for some meetings to be held face-

to-face.  Therefore, the Working Group will agree the location of the meeting (face-to-face or remote) 

based on the agenda items to be considered.  

7. Minutes of Boundary Review Working Group Meetings  

The Working Group shall agree to previous minutes as part of the agenda.  

Reports will be made to Council in line with the timescales for each Boundary Review to ensure that 

any deadlines for submission of comments are met. 

Page 24



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Council name COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and date of 

Committee 

COUNCIL MEETING – 20 SEPTEMBER 2023 

Subject REVIEW OF THE COTSWOLD DISTRICT LOCAL PLAN 2011-2031 

HOUSING REQUIREMENT 

Wards affected All Wards 

Accountable member Cllr Juliet Layton, Cabinet Member for Planning and Regulatory Services 

Email: juliet.layton@cotswold.gov.uk 

Accountable officer 

 

Charlie Jackson, Assistant Director for Planning and Sustainability 

Email: democratic@cotswold.gov.uk  

Report author Matthew Britton, Principal Planning Policy Officer 

Email: democratic@cotswold.gov.uk   

Summary/Purpose To agree that Full Council should approve the Review of the Cotswold 

District Local Plan 2011-2031 Housing Requirement, which finds that the 

local housing need of the district has not changed significantly and that 

the minimum housing requirement provided by the Cotswold District 
Local Plan does not require updating. 

Annexes ANNEX A: Review of the Cotswold District Local Plan 2011-2031 

Housing Requirement (CDC, August 2023) 

ANNEX B: Reviewing whether housing need has significantly changed 

(ORS, July 2023) 

Recommendation(s) That subject to the agreement of Cabinet on 12th September 2023,  

that Council resolves to; 

1) Agree to recommend to Full Council to approve the review of the 

Cotswold District Local Plan 2011-2031 housing requirement. 

Corporate priorities Making the Local Plan Green to the Core 

Key Decision No 

Exempt No 

Consultees/ 

Consultation  

Cotswold District Council Legal Services Team 

Page 25

Agenda Item 8

mailto:juliet.layton@cotswold.gov.uk
mailto:democratic@cotswold.gov.uk
mailto:democratic@cotswold.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 The review of the adopted Local Plan housing requirement has been undertaken. This 

concludes that the local housing need of the district has not changed significantly and the 

adopted Local Plan housing requirement does not require updating. The situation may 

change, for example when national policy and guidance are updated, so will be kept under 

review. 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 Policy DS1 of the adopted Local Plan1 sets a minimum housing requirement of 8,400 

dwellings for the period 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2031 (the Local Plan period). In 

addition, there is a further requirement for 322 dwellings resulting from communal 

accommodation needs of Policy H4. Therefore, the combined requirement is 8,722 

dwellings. 

2.2 Since the adoption of the Local Plan in August 2018, national planning policies have been 

updated. Strategic policies, such as the housing requirement, now have to be reviewed at 

least once every five years to assess whether they need updating2. The Government has 

also introduced a nationally prescribed ‘standard method’ for calculating housing need3. 

2.3 A review of the housing requirement has been undertaken. This has considered whether 

the updated housing need over the Local Plan period, which is now calculated to be a 

minimum of 9,094 dwellings, has changed significantly. Taking consideration of a variety of 

relevant issues, the review also considers whether the adopted Local Plan housing 

requirement should be updated. 

3. MAIN POINTS 

3.1 The review concludes that: 

 the local housing need of the district has not changed significantly; and  

 the adopted Local Plan housing requirement does not require updating. 

3.2 The review has considered whether the housing requirement should be increased to 

respond to various issues – an executive summary of these is provided within Annex A. 

                                                
1 Cotswold District Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted 3 August 2023) 
2 National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) paragraph 33 
3 As set out in the Planning Practice Guidance for Housing and economic needs assessment (DLUHC, last updated 16 

December 2020) 

Page 26

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/k2kjvq3b/cotswold-district-local-plan-2011-2031-adopted-3-august-2018-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Of particular note are that the extant requirement is able to fully deliver the updated 

housing need of 9,094 by delivering close to 10,000 dwellings over the 20 year plan period. 

The housing requirement is also working successfully in delivering the wider development 

strategy of the Local Plan. 

3.3 The Local Plan is performing better than expected in terms of affordable (including social 

rented) housing delivery compared to when the Local Plan was examined in 2017/18. 

Housing affordability has got worse over the past few years but this is a multifaceted 

national issue, which increasing the housing requirement can do little to resolve. 

Additional sites can be allocated in the Local Plan Partial Update to provide additional 

affordable housing, if the Council wishes to, without increasing the adopted housing 

requirement. 

3.4 The review provides a position at this point in time, which may change in future. For 

example, new housing need figures are published annually and new national planning 

policies and guidance are expected to be published in 2023, either of which may result in 

the housing requirement needing to be updated. 

4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

4.1 The alternative is to not accept the findings of the review. The result would likely be that 

from 3 August 2023, the requirement against which the five year housing land supply of the 

District is measured would switch from the Local Plan residual requirement to the 

government’s standard method. This would result in the Council not being able to 

demonstrate a five year housing land supply and / or failing the Housing Delivery Test.  

4.2 If the Council cannot demonstrate a deliverable five-year housing land supply, national policy 

specifies that the housing policies which are most important for determining planning 

applications will be considered to be out-of-date. Instead, planning applications will be 

determined with a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This may result in 

developments in unplanned locations, which would otherwise be unsuitable. The principle of 

plan-led development could be circumnavigated to address a shortfall in plan-led housing 

supply. 

4.3 It would also have implications for the partial update process and it would require the 

council to identify additional land to meet shortfalls. This would require additional evidence 

gathering and informal community engagement to ensure the most sustainable locations for 

development were identified. 

5. CONCLUSIONS 

5.1 Council should approve the Review of the Cotswold District Local Plan 2011-2031 Housing 

Requirement, which finds that the local housing need of the district has not changed 

Page 27



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
significantly and that the minimum housing requirement provided by the Cotswold District 

Local Plan does not require updating. 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATION 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications, although approving the Review of the Cotswold 

District Local Plan 2011-2031 Housing Requirement would enable the Council to continue 

to maintain a substantial five year housing land supply. This would reduce the risk of the 

Council’s five year housing land supply being challenged at appeal, and the associated 

resource and costs that would otherwise be required. 

6.2 The Review of the housing requirement may itself also be challenged at a test case appeal or 

in the courts, which could have associated financial implications for the Council. 

6.3 The Review will also provide clarity and certainty to the Council’s Development 

Management team. This will save officer time and resources when providing pre-

application advice and determining planning applications. It will also enable the quicker 

determination of planning applications, which will be beneficial for applicants. 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 The Council must undertake a Review of the Local Plan within five years of its adoption to 

establish if the policies remain up-to-date4.  

7.2 The Council accepted the conclusions of a review of the Local Plan in May 2020. This 

found that the Local Plan should be updated partially to address three broad factors: 

i. address the climate and ecological emergencies; and 

ii. update the policies to ensure they are consistent with the latest national planning 

policies and guidance, including addressing the increased housing need resulting from 

the then new standard method for calculating housing need (often referred to as the 

standard method) and  

iii. Economic Conditions, in particular needing to reflect the changing nature of the high 

streets and the need to update policy S3 Cirencester Central Area Strategy. 

7.3 This current review of the housing requirement updates the position on whether the 

Council needs to update the adopted housing requirement, as well as assessing whether 

the local housing need has changed significantly. 

7.4 This has wider implications beyond the plan making process and the scope of the Local 

Plan Partial Update. It also affects how the Council determines its ‘five year housing land 

supply’, which is a national planning policy mechanism designed to ensure a continual 

supply of housing within the district. 

                                                
4 NPPF footnote 20 states, “Reviews at least every five years are a legal requirement for all local plans (Regulation 10A of 

the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012). 

Page 28



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7.5 This is an important consideration in the determination of planning applications. If the 

Council cannot demonstrate a five year housing land supply then in accordance with 

National Planning Policy Framework, (NPPF, 2021) clause 11(d), the ‘presumption in 

favour of sustainable development’, must be applied. This policy reduces the ‘planning 

weight’ the Council can apply to Local Plan policies involved in the provision of housing. 

For example, a Principal Settlement’s development boundary (Local Plan Policy DS2) that 

restricts development beyond the boundary would attract less weight in the ‘planning 

balance’. The policy would only achieve full weight once the Council could demonstrate a 

five year housing land supply. 

7.6 The effect of accepting this Review is to notify the local community and those seeking to 

gain planning permission for new housing development that the Local Plan housing 

requirement remains up-to-date. Therefore, the Council will not use the standard method 

as the basis for calculating its five year housing land supply from the 3 August 2023. 

7.7 This approach utilises and is consistent with the NPPF (2021) paragraph 33 and 74 and 

footnote 39. 

Paragraph 33: “Policies in local plans and spatial development strategies should be 

reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, and 

should then be updated as necessary [footnote 20]. Reviews should be completed 

no later than five years from the adoption date of a plan, and should take into 

account changing circumstances affecting the area, or any relevant changes in 

national policy. Relevant strategic policies will need updating at least once every 

five years if their applicable local housing need figure has changed significantly; and 

they are likely to require earlier review if local housing need is expected to change 

significantly in the near future. 

Footnote 20: “Reviews at least every five years are a legal requirement for all local 

plans (Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 

Regulations 2012).” 

Paragraph 74: “…Local planning authorities should identify and update annually a 

supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ 

worth of housing against their housing requirement set out in adopted strategic 

policies [footnote 38], or against their local housing need where the strategic 

policies are more than five years old [footnote 39].” 

Footnote 39: “Unless these strategic policies have been reviewed and found not to 

require updating. Where local housing need is used as the basis for assessing 

whether a five year supply of specific deliverable sites exists, it should be calculated 

using the standard method set out in national planning guidance.” 

8. RISK ASSESSMENT 

Page 29



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.1 There is a risk that planning applicants and agents will not agree with the Council’s 

position on the housing requirement when applying for permission for new housing 

development.  

8.2 The Council may be challenged on its position on the housing requirement through an 

appeal to a refused planning application. Similarly, the Council may be challenged during 

the process of updating partially its Local Plan, particularly at the Local Plan examination. 

9. EQUALITIES IMPACT 

9.1 The adopted Local Plan was accompanied by a Sustainability Appraisal5, which considered 

equalities impact. The Review of the housing requirement confirms that the adopted Local 

Plan housing requirement does not require updating, so the Sustainability Appraisal that 

supported the adopted Local Plan housing requirement remains fit for purpose. 

9.2 An Integrated Impact Assessment was also produced for the Local Plan Partial Update 

(Regulation 18) Issues and Options consultation, which considered the issue of the housing 

requirement6. There is also a requirement to update the Integrated Impact Assessment at 

each stage of the production of the Local Plan Partial Update. 

10. CLIMATE AND ECOLOGICAL EMERGENCIES IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 When the Local Plan was examined, it was found sound on the basis that housing delivery in 

the later part of the plan period would decrease in order to rebalance the extremely high 

rates of delivery earlier in the plan period and, in so doing, the Local Plan would deliver 

sustainable levels of growth. Indeed, the District had not delivered anywhere near the 

average annual rate of growth prior to 2011. The Local Plan inspector considered that, “As 

the OAN assumes a population increase sufficient to fill all of the additional jobs expected 

to be created in the district, increasing the housing requirement further would be likely to 

lead to net out commuting and therefore longer journeys by private motor vehicles… 

Whilst the market in the district may be sufficiently strong to mean that adopting such an 

approach would be effective in driving up supply, a balance has to be struck in order to 

achieve sustainable development having regard to the high quality of the built and natural 

environment and the need to avoid long distance commuting.” 

10.2 Around 5,580 homes were delivered in the first half of the Local Plan period – 66% of the 

entire Local Plan housing requirement – with the annual delivery rate peaking at 911 

dwellings in 2017/18. This compares to the average annual housing requirement of 420 

homes a year. 

                                                
5 https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-policy/local-plan-2011-to-2031/  
6 Interim Integrated Impact Assessment (2022)  

Page 30

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-policy/local-plan-2011-to-2031/
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/15sfh0a2/11-1-3-interim-iia-report-for-issues-and-options-consultation-feb-2022.pdf
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/15sfh0a2/11-1-3-interim-iia-report-for-issues-and-options-consultation-feb-2022.pdf


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.3 The development strategy has been effective and continues to work as planned. The average 

annual delivery rate between 2019 and 2023 is now 366 homes a year (including homes 

released to the market from communal accommodation developments). The development 

strategy is delivering a sustainable level of growth over the plan period. 

10.4 If the housing requirement were to be increased, a situation would arise where the Council 

would likely to not have a five-year housing land supply and / or fail the Housing Delivery 

Test. In this situation, plan-led development can be circumnavigated by applications for 

housing development in otherwise unsuitable locations and where there is likely to be less 

opportunity to deliver benefits, particularly mitigating the impacts of climate change by 

locating housing in the most accessible locations. Applications would instead be determined 

in accordance with a ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’, as set out in 

national policy.7 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 ANNEX A: Review of the Cotswold District Local Plan 2011-2031 Housing 

Requirement (CDC, August 2023) 

 ANNEX B: Reviewing whether housing need has significantly changed (ORS, July 

2023) 

(END) 

                                                
7 NPPF (2021) paragraph 11 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 
 

 

Review of the Cotswold 

District Local Plan 2011-

2031 Housing Requirement 

 

August 2023 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact Details 

 

Forward Planning 

Cotswold District Council 

Trinity Road 

Cirencester 

GL7 1PX 

 

Tel: 01285 623000 

Email: local.plan@cotswold.gov.uk 

Web: www.cotswold.gov.uk 

Page 34

http://www.cotswold.gov.uk/


 
 

Contents 

1. Executive summary ..................................................................................................................................... 1 

2. Introduction ................................................................................................................................................. 5 

3. Housing need vs housing requirement .................................................................................................... 5 

What is the difference between housing need and housing requirement? ......................................... 5 

What is the current housing requirement of Cotswold District? ......................................................... 5 

Why does the Local Plan housing requirement have to be reviewed? ................................................ 6 

When would the updated Local Plan housing requirement apply from? ............................................. 7 

4. Local Plan ‘Issues & Options’ (Regulation 18) consultation ................................................................. 8 

5. Reviewing the housing requirement ........................................................................................................ 8 

What is the current housing need for Cotswold District? ..................................................................... 9 

How should the housing requirement be calculated? ............................................................................ 10 

Should the updated housing requirement be higher than the housing need to accommodate 

unmet housing needs from neighbouring authorities? ............................................................................ 11 

Should the updated housing requirement be increased or decreased based on previous rates of 

housing delivery? .............................................................................................................................................. 12 

Should the updated housing requirement be increased or decreased based on housing 

affordability? ...................................................................................................................................................... 14 

Should the updated housing requirement be increased or decreased to deliver more affordable 

housing? ............................................................................................................................................................. 19 

Should the updated housing requirement be increased or decreased to accommodate housing 

needs resulting from growth strategy of the area? ................................................................................. 26 

Should the updated housing requirement be increased or decreased to accommodate housing 

needs resulting from strategic infrastructure projects? ......................................................................... 27 

Should the updated housing requirement be increased or decreased to protect areas or assets 

of particular importance?............................................................................................................................... 28 

Should the updated housing requirement be increased or decreased to promote a sustainable 

pattern of development and mitigate climate change? ........................................................................... 30 

6. Has the applicable local housing need figure changed significantly? .................................................. 32 

What is the ‘applicable local housing need’ of Cotswold District? ..................................................... 32 

Defining ‘significant change’........................................................................................................................... 36 

Has the housing need changed significantly from an evidence-based analytical perspective? ....... 37 

Has the housing need increased significantly in absolute terms? ......................................................... 38 

Have any Neighbourhood Development Plan examinations found the housing need has changed 

significantly? ....................................................................................................................................................... 40 

Does the change in the applicable housing need prevent the delivery of the adopted Local Plan 

vision, policy objectives or spatial strategy? .............................................................................................. 40 

Page 35



 
 

Does the change in the applicable housing need prevent the delivery of the NPPF (2021)? ....... 41 

Summary of whether applicable local housing need figure has changed significantly ...................... 42 

7. Conclusion: a review of the housing requirement .............................................................................. 43 

 

Page 36



1 

 

1. Executive summary 

1.1 Policy DS1 of the adopted Local Plan1 sets a minimum housing requirement of 8,400 dwellings 

(C3 use class) for the period 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2031 (the Local Plan period). There is 

a separate requirement of 580 nursing and residential care bedspaces (C2 use class) over the 

14-year period 2017-2031 (equivalent to an average of 41 bedspaces per year). Based on the 

Housing Delivery Test equivalence calculation2, this represents an additional, but separate, 

requirement of 322 further dwellings. The combined requirement is 8,722 dwellings. 
 

1.2 Since the adoption of the Local Plan, the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) (the 

NPPF (2021)) has set a new requirement for strategic policies, such as the housing 

requirement, to be reviewed at least once every five years to assess whether they need 

updating3. The Government has also introduced a nationally prescribed ‘standard method’ for 

calculating housing need4. 

 
1.3 A review of the housing requirement has been undertaken. This has considered whether the 

updated housing need over the Local Plan period, which is now calculated to be a minimum 

of 9,094 dwellings, is a significant increase. In so doing, the review has considered the following 

matters: 

 Unmet housing need from neighbouring authorities; 

 Affordable housing and housing affordability; 

 Growth strategy for the area; 

 Strategic infrastructure projects; 

 Areas or assets of particular importance;  

 Delivery of a sustainable pattern of development that mitigates climate change; and 

 Whether the housing need has changed significantly. 

 

1.4 The review has concluded that the minimum housing requirement does not require updating, 

primarily for the following reasons: 

i. The updated housing need is 429 dwellings (4.95%) higher than the adopted Local Plan 

housing requirement, which is a relatively small percentage increase that is well within 

the bounds of flexibility. 

ii. The adopted Local Plan policy specifies the requirement is a minimum. The policy does 

not seek to limit development, which might otherwise prevent the minimum housing 

need from being fully delivered. This is demonstrated by the Local Plan already being on 

course to delivering nearly 10,000 dwellings over the Local Plan period. 

iii. The Local Plan Partial Update will continue to specify that the housing requirement is a 

minimum. 

                                                           
1 Cotswold District Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted 3 August 2023) 
2 Para. 11 of the Housing Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book (MHCLG, July 2018) explains, “The ratio applied to other 
communal accommodation will be based on the national average number of adults in all households, with a ratio of 1.8”. 

Therefore, 580 bedspaces / 1.8 = 322 dwellings 
3 National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) paragraph 33 
4 As set out in the Planning Practice Guidance for Housing and economic needs assessment (DLUHC, last updated 16 

December 2020) 

Page 37

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/k2kjvq3b/cotswold-district-local-plan-2011-2031-adopted-3-august-2018-web-version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1012931/HDT_Measurement_Rule_Book.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments


2 

 

iv. The Council has not been requested to accommodate any unmet housing need from 

neighbouring authorities. 

v. The growth strategy of the area continues to align with the planned housing growth. 

There is therefore no justification for the housing requirement to be any higher than 

the identified housing need on this basis. 

vi. Housing is less affordable in Cotswold District compared to the county, regional and 

national averages. The Council is keen to take action to enable people to afford a home 

in the district. In this regard: 

- The housing need, as calculated by the standard methodology, already includes a 

188 dwelling per annum (62%) uplift to the household projections to help address 

the affordability of housing within district. 

- Based on a supply of existing planning permissions, site allocations and windfalls, it 

is estimated that 1,051 affordable homes will be delivered between 2021 and 2031 

(76% of the identified need for 1,378 affordable homes in this period). 

- The Local Plan Partial Update includes various proposals, which would deliver 

additional affordable homes. This includes considering the allocation of additional 

sites to provide further affordable homes and various updates to affordable housing 

policies. 

- The Council’s Housing Strategy will further boost the delivery of affordable 

housing, whilst also addressing the holistic causes of housing affordability in 

Cotswold District. 

vii. At the time of the examination of the adopted Local Plan, the Local Plan Inspector 

considered it to be reasonable for the Local Plan to deliver 64% of the identified 

affordable housing need. On that basis, the Inspector concluded that the affordable 

housing policies were sound. The affordable housing supply between 2021 and 2031 is 

already expected to deliver 76% of the affordable housing need (12 percentage points 

higher than the estimated amount of affordable housing delivery at the examination of 

the adopted Local Plan). Added to this, the proposed updates to the Local Plan housing 

policies and the Council’s Housing Strategy will close the gap further – or possibly fully 

deliver – the affordable housing need. 

viii. Based on the evidence for the district over the last 20 years, higher levels of both market 

and affordable housing delivery are likely to have had very limited impact on housing 

affordability in the district. Housing affordability is a multifaceted national issue. The 

solution(s) are largely beyond the control of the Local Plan and increasing the housing 

requirement will make virtually no difference. There is therefore no justification to 

increase the housing requirement in order to improve housing affordability or increase 

the supply of affordable housing. 

ix. The District has two strategic infrastructure projects, which are the A417 Missing Link 

and the upscaling of activities at RAF Fairford. The housing needs of both have been 

considered but neither justify an increased housing requirement. 

x. Given the district’s land constraints (e.g. 80% of the district is an Area of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty), there could be argument for a lower housing requirement. 

Notwithstanding this, the District’s constraints are strong justification why the adopted 

housing requirement should not be increased. 

Page 38



3 

 

xi. When the adopted Local Plan was examined, the development strategy was found sound 

on the basis that housing delivery in the later part of the plan period would decrease in 

order to rebalance the extremely high rates of delivery earlier in the plan period. In so 

doing, the Local Plan would deliver sustainable levels of growth. Indeed, the District had 

not delivered anywhere near the average annual rates of growth in the first half of Plan 

period prior to 2011. Notwithstanding this, the annual delivery rates of housing have 

been, and are still expected to be, delivered as envisaged at the time the Local Plan was 

examined. 

xii. Increasing the requirement would no doubt increase housing delivery. However, as the 

Inspector of the adopted Local Plan concluded in his report on the examination, “Whilst 

the market in the district may be sufficiently strong to mean that adopting such an 

approach would be effective in driving up supply, a balance has to be struck in order to 

achieve sustainable development having regard to the high quality of the built and natural 

environment and the need to avoid long distance commuting.” 

xiii. Increasing the housing requirement will result in increased household growth rates, 

which creates an increased housing need. This self-perpetuating cycle can only be 

broken by failure to deliver the housing requirement. However, if the housing 

requirement is not delivered in full, a situation arises where the Council is likely to not 

have a five-year housing land supply or fail the Housing Delivery Test. In this situation, 

plan-led development can be circumnavigated by applications for housing development 

in otherwise unsuitable locations and where there is likely to be less opportunity to 

deliver benefits, particularly mitigating the impacts of climate change by locating housing 

in the most accessible locations. Applications are instead determined in accordance with 

the NPPF’s ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’. Increasing the housing 

requirement may therefore lead to an unsustainable pattern of development and 

prevent the Council from mitigating the impacts of climate change, which does not 

accord with NPPF (2021) paragraph 11. 

xiv. The adopted Local Plan policy is set to deliver 9,671 dwellings over the Local Plan 

period. In addition, it is expected that 233 further homes will be released to the market 

resulting from the net increase in bedrooms in communal accommodation 

developments over the plan period – these count towards delivering the updated 

housing need of 9,094. In total, the 9,904 dwelling housing land supply over the Local 

Plan period will deliver 9% more than the minimum housing need. In other words, the 

identified housing land supply is capable of fully delivering the updated housing need. 

xv. The Council’s Housing Land Supply Report has assessed the deliverability of sites in 

detail. This evidence demonstrates that the Council has a deliverable and developable 

housing land supply, which is capable of fully delivering both the Local Plan’s 8,400 

dwelling minimum housing requirement and the updated minimum housing need of 

9,094 dwellings over the Local Plan period. 

xvi. The Council’s approach towards determining applications for windfalls (i.e. sites not 

allocated for development in the Local Plan) has been positive and consistent with 

national policy. This is demonstrated by the very small number of planning appeals that 

have been lodged in this regard. Furthermore, the average annual number of windfall 

completions since 2011 (the beginning of the plan period) has increased from 95 to 138 

a year. This demonstrates the Council’s continued commitment towards treating the 

housing requirement as a minimum, not a maximum. 

Page 39



4 

 

xvii. The Council will consider whether any additional sites should be allocated for housing 

to provide further contingency and increase the certainty that the updated housing need 

will be met in full. 

xviii. An assessment has been undertaken of whether the applicable housing need has changed 

significantly. This concludes that the need has not changed significantly.  

Page 40



5 

 

2. Introduction 

2.1 The Cotswold District Local Plan (2011-2031) (the Local Plan) was adopted in August 2018 

and has subsequently been kept under review5. 

 

2.2 A partial update of the Local Plan is being prepared to: 

 make the Local Plan green to the core (i.e. respond to the Council’s Climate and 

Ecological emergencies) – a commitment of the Council’s corporate strategy; 

 update or add policies to reflect changes to national policy and guidance and to improve 

the overall clarity and interpretation of the plan; and 

 where necessary, allocate additional land for housing to ensure a five-year supply can be 

maintained over the remaining years of the adopted plan period to 2031. 

2.3 This report updates the review of the adopted Local Plan housing requirement to determine 

whether the requirement should be updated in the Local Plan Partial Update. An assessment 

is made of various matters that contribute towards the calculation of the housing requirement, 

which may have changed since the Local Plan was adopted in 2018. The review also assesses 

whether the applicable local housing need has changed significantly. 

 

2.4 The aim is to review the existing requirement and consider if it needs to be updated, not to 

establish a new requirement for the remainder of the plan period. 

3. Housing need vs housing requirement 

What is the difference between housing need and housing requirement? 

3.1 Housing need is an unconstrained assessment of the number of homes needed in an area. 

Assessing housing need is the first step in the process of deciding how many homes need to 

be planned for. 

 

3.2 The housing requirement takes consideration of other planning matters, such as whether more 

homes should be provided to deliver additional affordable housing, economic growth 

strategies, strategic infrastructure improvements, or so that an authority can take on unmet 

need from a neighbouring authority. Such circumstances could necessitate a housing 

requirement that is higher than the housing need. The converse also applies. For example, 

protected areas or assets of particular importance may provide a strong reason for restricting 

the overall scale, type or distribution of development in the plan area. There may also be 

insufficient deliverable/developable land to meet the housing need of the plan area, in which 

case the authority would, if possible, seek to deliver the unmet housing need in a neighbouring 

authority. In simple terms, the housing requirement is the minimum housing target that the 

district is required to deliver over a period of time. This is for the period between 2011 and 

2031 for the Cotswold District Local Plan. 

What is the current housing requirement of Cotswold District? 

3.3 The adopted Local Plan strategic policies identify a minimum requirement of 8,400 dwellings 

(C3 use class) over the 20-year period 2011-2031 (equivalent to an average of 420 per year).  

 

                                                           
5 A review of the adopted Cotswold District Local Plan (2011 to 2031) (Cotswold District Council, 3 June 2020) 

Page 41

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/k2kjvq3b/cotswold-district-local-plan-2011-2031-adopted-3-august-2018-web-version.pdf
https://meetings.cotswold.gov.uk/Data/Council/202006031412/Agenda/Agenda%20Item%2010%20-%20Local%20Plan%20Review.pdf


6 

 

3.4 There is a separate requirement of 580 nursing and residential care bedspaces (C2 use class) 

over the 14-year period 2017-2031 (equivalent to an average of 41 bedspaces per year). Based 

on the Housing Delivery Test equivalence calculation6, this represents an additional, but 

separate, requirement of 322 further dwellings. 

 

3.5 These requirements were endorsed by Inspector that examined the Local Plan on the basis 

that they would meet the identified C2 and C3 use class housing need in full. 

 

3.6 The two policies represent a combined minimum requirement of 8,722 dwellings over the 20 

year Local Plan period (an average of 436 dwellings per annum). However, the requirement of 

580 nursing and residential care bedspaces (C2 use class) was for the period 2017 to 2031 

and did not cover the first six years of the plan period. The average annual requirement from 

2017 is therefore 443 dwellings per annum. 

 

3.7 The District is also required to maintain a five-year housing land supply7. This is currently 

measured against a related, but separate requirement, known in the Local Plan as the ‘residual 

requirement’8. This is based on the C3 requirement and does not include the C2 requirement. 

 

3.8 The purpose of the residual requirement – and the five-year housing land supply – is to ensure 

that the Local Plan’s overall housing requirement is fully delivered and to support the 

Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes by providing a sufficient 

amount and variety of land where it is needed so that the needs of groups with specific housing 

requirements are addressed. 

 

3.9 The adopted Local Plan does not include a requirement for the number of dwellings that must 

be delivered in any given year. The average figures, in themselves, are not an annual 

requirement. The total Local Plan housing requirement can be delivered in any number of 

ways, so long as a five year supply is maintained, the Housing Delivery Test is passed and the 

requirement is delivered in full over the plan period. 

 

3.10 The basis for the five-year housing land supply calculation is different for plans that have been 

adopted for more than five years, unless the housing requirement set out in strategic policies 

has been reviewed and updated where necessary. As the current Local Plan was adopted in 

August 2018, the calculation for Cotswold District would change in August 2023 unless the 

housing requirement has been reviewed and updated where necessary. Without the review, 

the five-year housing land supply would be measured against local housing need calculated by 

the government’s standard method calculation. 

Why does the Local Plan housing requirement have to be reviewed? 

3.11 Since the adoption of the Local Plan in August 2018 when the housing requirement of the 

District was set, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Planning Practice 

Guidance (PPG) have been updated. In particular: 

 The new nationally prescribed ‘standard method’ for calculating housing need has been 

introduced. 

                                                           
6 Para. 11 of the Housing Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book (MHCLG, July 2018) explains, “The ratio applied to other 
communal accommodation will be based on the national average number of adults in all households, with a ratio of 1.8”. 

Therefore, 580 bedspaces / 1.8 = 322 dwellings 
7 NPPF (2021) paragraph 74 
8 The residual requirement is set out in Local Plan Policy DS1. It deducts dwelling completions since 2011 from the 8,400 

dwelling Local Plan housing requirement. The residual requirement is then divided by the remaining years of the plan 

period to give an annualised requirement, which is used to measure the five-year housing land supply against. 

Page 42

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1012931/HDT_Measurement_Rule_Book.pdf


7 

 

 A new national policy has been introduced, which requires strategic policies (such as 

the housing requirement) to be reviewed at least once every five years to assess 

whether they need updating9. The Council’s review of its Local Plan policies10 found that 

it was necessary to consider the implications of the housing need figure resulting from 

the standard methodology to establish whether any strategic policies needed updating. 

 A national policy has been introduced, which requires the five-year housing land supply 

to be measured against the local housing need figure, as calculated by the Standard 

Method, where the Local Plan housing requirement is more than five years old and has 

been reviewed and found to require updating11. 

 

3.12 Unless the Council’s housing requirement is reviewed, and updated where necessary, and / or 

consideration is given to allocating additional housing sites to deliver the updated housing 

requirement, the Council may be unable to demonstrate a deliverable five-year housing land 

supply. 

 

3.13 If the Council cannot demonstrate a deliverable five-year housing land supply, national policy 

specifies that the housing policies which are most important for determining the application 

will be considered to be out-of-date. Instead, planning applications will be determined in 

accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development prescribed by NPPF 

(2021) paragraph 11. This may result in developments in unplanned locations, which would 

otherwise be unsuitable. The principle of plan-led development could be circumnavigated to 

address a shortfall in plan-led housing supply. 

When would the updated Local Plan housing requirement apply from? 

3.14 National policy does not specify when updated Local Plan housing requirements should apply 

from. However, it specifies that, “Policies in local plans and spatial development strategies 
should be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, and 
should then be updated as necessary. Reviews should be completed no later than five years 
from the adoption date of a plan, and should take into account changing circumstances affecting 
the area, or any relevant changes in national policy. Relevant strategic policies will need 
updating at least once every five years if their applicable local housing need figure has changed 
significantly; and they are likely to require earlier review if local housing need is expected to 
change significantly in the near future.”12 
 

3.15 National Policy also specifies that, “Local planning authorities should identify and update 
annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ 
worth of housing against their housing requirement set out in adopted strategic policies, or 
against their local housing need where the strategic policies are more than five years old13”.14 

 

3.16 The Local Plan was adopted on 3 August 2018 and the Plan becomes five years old on 3 August 

2023. For ease of monitoring the Local Plan housing completions against whole months, the 

period that the updated housing need applies from is 1 August 2023 to 31 March 2031. This 

is a period of 7 years and 8 months. 

                                                           
9 National Planning Policy Framework (2021) paragraph 33 
10 A Review of the adopted Cotswold District Council Local Plan (2011 to 2031) 
11 NPPF (2021) paragraph 74 
12 NPPF (2021) paragraph 33 
13 NPPF (2021) Footnote 9: “Unless these strategic policies have been reviewed and found not to require updating. Where 
local housing need is used as the basis for assessing whether a five year supply of specific deliverable sites exists, it should 
be calculated using the standard method set out in national planning guidance.” 
14 NPPF (2021) paragraph 74 

Page 43

https://meetings.cotswold.gov.uk/Data/Council/202006031412/Agenda/Agenda%20Item%2010%20-%20Local%20Plan%20Review.pdf


8 

 

4. Local Plan ‘Issues & Options’ (Regulation 18) consultation 

4.1 The Council undertook a Local Plan Issues and Options (Regulation 18) consultation between 

February and March 202215. With regard to ‘Housing Need, Requirement, Land Supply and 

Delivery’ the Council presented the following two options: 

i. Revert to standard method housing need calculation as the basis for determining the 

requirements against which the five-year housing land supply and Housing Delivery Test 

are measured. Allocate additional sites in the Local Plan to maintain a five-year housing 

land supply and pass the Housing Delivery Test. 

ii. Review and update the Local Plan housing requirement for the remainder of the Local 

Plan period. If required, allocate additional sites to maintain a five-year housing land 

supply and pass the Housing Delivery Test. 

4.2 The Issues and Options consultation document presented further information about each of 

the two options, and stated that the Council’s preferred option was to review and update the 

Local Plan housing requirement for the remainder of the Local Plan period and, if required, to 

allocate additional sites to maintain a five-year housing land supply and pass the Housing 

Delivery Test. The consultation then asked whether people agreed that this was the most 

appropriate option and for them to explain why. 

 

 

4.3 A significant majority of people 

agreed that the Council’s preferred 

option was the most appropriate 

option, with more than three times as 

many respondents saying ‘Yes’ than 

‘No’. 

 

4.4 The main reasons given in support 

was that this option would be better 

able to deliver plan-led development. 

There was also support for providing 

a flexible and balanced housing land 

supply and retaining the residual 

requirement methodology for 

calculating the requirement against 

which the five-year housing land 

supply is measured. 

5. Reviewing the housing requirement 

5.1 This section of the report considers the various matters that should be factored into the 

balance when reviewing the housing requirement for the Local Plan Partial Update. 

 

5.2 These matters include the currently adopted housing requirement, the residual requirement 

(taking account of those dwellings that have already been delivered), the current local housing 

need for the District based on the government’s standard methodology calculation, any other 

factors that would justify increasing the housing requirement, as well as any constraints that 

should also be considered. 

                                                           
15 Cotswold District Local Plan 2011–2031 Partial Update Issues And Options Consultation 

Page 44

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/kdflaaxx/11-1-1a-cotswold-district-local-plan-2011-2031-partial-update-issues-and-options-consultation-feb-2022.pdf


9 

 

What is the current housing need for Cotswold District? 

5.3 Changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 2018 introduced a new 

standard methodology for calculating housing need (the standard method). 

 

5.4 Using the standard method calculation, the Gloucestershire Local Housing Needs 

Assessment16 (September 2020) established that the local housing need was 490 dwellings per 

year for Cotswold District. However, the housing need figure can change as and when new 

data is published which feeds into the calculation. Based on the latest data available in August 

2023, the standard method calculation identifies that the local housing need is 493 dwellings 

per year17.  

 

5.5 The inputs to the local housing need calculation are expected to change next in March 2024 

when new data is published. The methodology for calculating the housing need is also subject 

to periodic changes, as demonstrated by the government’s consultation on its proposed 

changes to the planning system18. 

 

5.6 In reviewing the housing requirement for the period 2011 to 2031, it is appropriate to maintain 

the housing requirement endorsed by the Local Plan Inspector (an average of 420 dwellings 

per year) for the period up until five years after the Local Plan was adopted. This equates to 

5,180 dwellings over the first 12 years and 4 months of the Plan. 

 

5.7 However, as previously noted, this figure did not allow for the increase of residents living in 

communal establishments as the supply of Use Class C2 (residential institutions) was 

monitored separately. The standard method simplified the calculation of local housing need, 

and the net increase in bedrooms in both student and other communal accommodation is now 

counted using ratios based on Census data as set out in the Housing Delivery Test 

measurement rule book19. Therefore, for consistency, it is necessary to consider the impact 

of this additional need. 

 

                                                           
16 Gloucestershire Local Housing Needs Assessment (ORS, September 2020)  
17 As calculated in April 2023 by the Planning Practice Guidance on Housing and economic needs assessment (DLUHC and 

MHCLG, updated 16 December 2020) 
18 Changes to the current planning system – Consultation on changes to planning policy and regulations (MHCLG, August 

2020) 
19 Housing Delivery Test measurement rule book (DLUHC and MHCLG, July 2018) 

Page 45

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/b43lc01k/3110-gloucestershire-local-housing-needs-assessment-sept-2020.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/927157/200805_Changes_to_the_current_planning_system.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-measurement-rule-book/housing-delivery-test-measurement-rule-book


10 

 

5.8 Local Plan policy H4 identifies a need for 580 nursing and residential bedspaces between 2017 

and 2031. This was based on a need calculation of the Strategic Housing for Older People 

Analysis Tool in 2017. However, this does not provide the full C2 housing need of Local Plan 

period. 

 

5.9 The OAHN Report that was applied to the adopted 8,400 dwelling (C3 use class) minimum 

housing requirement also identified an increase of 366 residents living in communal 

establishments (C2 use class) over the 20-year Plan period20. Census data identifies an average 

of 1.807 adults per household as the relevant conversion ratio for Cotswold District. This 

equates to a total of 203 extra households, which yields a need for 217 additional dwellings 

based on the 6.55% rate that was assumed for dwellings without a usually resident household. 

 

5.10 On this basis, the adjustment for communal accommodation yields an additional 11 dwellings 

per annum (dpa) that was additional to the housing need of 420dpa endorsed by the Local Plan 

Inspector – so the overall housing need (including communal accommodation) totals 5,314 

dwellings over the first 12 years and 4 months of the Plan. 

 

5.11 The remaining 7 years and 8 months would then be based on the local housing need identified 

by the government’s standard method calculation at the time of the review (493 dwellings per 

year) equivalent to a further 3,780 dwellings. This yields an overall need for 9,094 dwellings 

over the 20-year plan period. 

 

5.12 The Council’s 2023 Housing Land Supply Report confirms that 6,407 dwellings will be 

delivered across the District up to 31 July 202321. In addition, 147 dwellings have been released 

to the market resulting from the net increase in bedrooms in communal accommodation and 

the amount of accommodation released in the housing market. Therefore, at least 2,540 more 

dwellings would have to be delivered or released to the market over the remaining 7 years 

and 8 months to meet the 9,094 dwelling need in full. 

How should the housing requirement be calculated? 

5.13 National guidance22 explains that, “The standard method for assessing local housing need 
provides a minimum starting point in determining the number of homes needed in an area. It 
does not attempt to predict the impact that future government policies, changing economic 
circumstances or other factors might have on demographic behaviour. Therefore, there will 
be circumstances where it is appropriate to consider whether actual housing need is higher 
than the standard method indicates. This will need to be assessed prior to, and separate from, 
considering how much of the overall need can be accommodated (and then translated into a 
housing requirement figure for the strategic policies in the plan). Circumstances where this 
may be appropriate include, but are not limited to situations where increases in housing need 
are likely to exceed past trends because of: 

 growth strategies for the area that are likely to be deliverable, for example where 

funding is in place to promote and facilitate additional growth (e.g. Housing Deals); 

 strategic infrastructure improvements that are likely to drive an increase in the homes 

needed locally; or 

 an authority agreeing to take on unmet need from neighbouring authorities, as set out 

in a statement of common ground. 

                                                           
20 The Objectively Assessed Housing Needs of Cotswold District (NMSS, December 2016) 
21 This is based on 6,277 dwelling completions between 1 April 2011 and 31 March 2023 and one third (four months) of 

the projected 391 dwellings that are estimated will be completed in 2023/24. 
22 Planning Practice Guidance on Housing and economic needs assessment (DLUHC and MHCLG, updated 16 December 

2020) 

Page 46

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/kjraznpv/3103-objectively-assessed-housing-need-report-dec-2016.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments


11 

 

 

5.14 National policy also requires Local Plans to apply a “presumption in favour of sustainable 
development”23. 

“a) all plans should promote a sustainable pattern of development that seeks to: meet the 

development needs of their area; align growth and infrastructure; improve the environment; 

mitigate climate change (including by making effective use of land in urban areas) and adapt 

to its effects; 

b) strategic policies should, as a minimum, provide for objectively assessed needs for housing 

and other uses, as well as any needs that cannot be met within neighbouring areas, unless: 

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a strong reason for restricting the overall scale, type 

or distribution of development in the plan area24; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.” 

 

5.15 Therefore, the following matters form part of the review of whether the housing requirement 

requires updating: 

 Unmet housing need from neighbouring authorities; 

 Affordable housing and housing affordability; 

 Growth strategy for the area; 

 Strategic infrastructure projects; 

 Areas or assets of particular importance; 

 Delivery of a sustainable pattern of development that mitigates climate change; and 

 Whether the applicable housing need has changed significantly. 

Should the updated housing requirement be higher than the housing need to 

accommodate unmet housing needs from neighbouring authorities? 

5.16 Cotswold District Council has not received any Duty to Cooperate requests to accommodate 

unmet housing needs from any neighbouring local authorities to accommodate market or 

affordable housing. 

 

5.17 A Statement of Common Ground25 (SoCG) has been signed between the Gloucestershire 

local planning authorities, which cover the entire Gloucestershire Housing Market Area. The 

SoCG makes the following commitments: 
 

7. The Parties agree that making provision to meet the full range of housing needs in 

the right places at the right time is a vital role for the Gloucestershire authorities. The 

parties acknowledge this may result in one local authority accommodating the 

identified needs of another local authority, particularly where a local authority is 

                                                           
23 NPPF (2021) paragraph 11 
24 NPPF (2021) Footnote 7: “The policies referred to are those in this Framework (rather than those in development 
plans) relating to: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 181) and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest; land designated as Green Belt, Local Green Space, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, a National Park (or 
within the Broads Authority) or defined as Heritage Coast; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and other 
heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 68); and areas at risk of flooding or coastal change” 
25 Gloucestershire Statement of Common Ground 

Page 47

https://meetings.cotswold.gov.uk/documents/s5610/ANNEX%20C%20-%20GloucestershiSOCG%20v10.3.pdf


12 

 

unable to accommodate all of the identified need and where accommodating need in a 

neighbouring authority represents the most sustainable form of development. 

 

8. The parties agree to jointly seek to meet in full (at least) the aggregated housing 

needs for Gloucestershire as identified by the statutory standard method at the time. 

The parties will continue the joint approach to the collection of housing needs data 

through a jointly procured and managed Local Housing Needs Assessment, using the 

relevant housing need methodology of the day. The parties agree to deliver housing 

where it promotes sustainable patterns of growth in Gloucestershire and is designed 

to respect local character and address potential impacts on existing communities. 

 

9. The parties agree to explore the full range of development opportunities available, 

taking into account the potential impact on existing communities, resources and 

infrastructure. 

 

5.18 Therefore, there is currently no justification to set a higher or lower housing requirement to 

accommodate unmet housing need from neighbouring authorities. 

Should the updated housing requirement be increased or decreased based on 

previous rates of housing delivery? 

5.19 Over the first half of the Plan period (2011-2021) the dwelling stock in Cotswold District 

increased by 14%. That is equivalent to one new home being provided over the decade for 

every seven existing homes at the start of the decade. When this is considered in the context 

of other local areas, it is evident that the rate of housing supply in Cotswold District is amongst 

the highest of all other local authority areas that are classified as being predominantly rural by 

the Office for National Statistics (ONS). 

 

5.20 The rate of supply in the majority of these rural areas was actually higher than the overall rate 

for England as a whole, with the rate in Cotswold District being 72% above the national 

average. It is evident that Cotswold District, together with many other rural areas, has 

achieved the Government’s national policy objective to significantly boost housing supply and 

deliver new homes. 

  

Page 48



13 

 

 

 

5.21 This step-change in supply has been achieved despite 80% of the land in the District being 

designated as an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and 1.3% of the District being 

designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), 1% of which being outside the AONB. 

 

5.22 It is evident that no other district with similar levels of such constraints has achieved such a 

significant rate of new housing provision. 

1
8
%

1
7
%

1
6
%

1
6
%

1
5
%

1
4
%

1
4
%

1
3
%

1
3
%

1
2
%

1
2
%

1
1
%

1
1
%

1
1
%

1
1
%

1
1
%

1
1
%

1
1
%

1
0
%

9
%

9
%

9
%

9
%

9
%

9
%

8
%

8
%

8
%

8
%

8
%

8
%

8
%

7
%

7
%

7
%

7
%

7
%

6
%

6
%

6
%

5
%

4
%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

N
e
t 

ad
d
it

io
n
s 

2
0
1
1
-2

0
2
1
 

as
 %

 o
f 
st

o
ck

Net additions to housing stock 2011-21

1
2
0
%

1
0
0
%

9
4
%

9
0
%

8
3
%

7
2
%

6
8
%

6
2
%

5
3
%

4
1
%

4
1
%

3
6
%

3
5
%

3
2
%

2
9
%

2
8
%

2
8
%

2
8
%

2
3
%

1
4
%

1
4
%

1
0
%

6
%

6
%

3
%

3
%

0
%

0
%

0
%

-3
%

-5
%

-9
%

-1
0
%

-1
1
%

-1
8
%

-1
8
%

-2
0
%

-2
3
%

-2
7
%

-3
0
%

-3
5
%

-5
2
%

-75%

-50%

-25%

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

125%

150%

U
tt

le
sf

o
rd

So
u
th

 N
o
rf

o
lk

St
ra

tf
o
rd

-o
n
-A

vo
n

H
ar

b
o
ro

u
gh

W
yc

h
av

o
n

C
o
ts

w
o

ld
So

u
th

 O
x
fo

rd
sh

ir
e

R
ib

b
le

 V
al

le
y

Se
lb

y
E
as

t 
H

am
p
sh

ir
e

W
e
st

 O
x
fo

rd
sh

ir
e

R
u
tl
an

d
M

id
 S

u
ff
o

lk
R

ye
d
al

e
N

o
rt

h
 K

e
st

e
ve

n
M

id
 D

e
vo

n
H

u
n
ti
n
gd

o
n
sh

ir
e

C
o
rn

w
al

l
W

e
al

d
e
n

H
am

b
le

to
n

B
re

ck
la

n
d

M
e
n
d
ip

T
o

rr
id

ge
W

e
st

 L
in

d
se

y
So

u
th

 H
am

s
E
d
e
n

E
as

t 
C

am
b
ri

d
ge

sh
ir

e
F
o

re
st

 o
f 
D

e
an

M
al

d
o

n
N

o
rt

h
 N

o
rf

o
lk

B
ab

e
rg

h
D

e
rb

ys
h
ir

e
 D

al
e
s

M
e
lt

o
n

C
ra

ve
n

R
ic

h
m

o
n
d
sh

ir
e

N
o
rt

h
 W

ar
w

ic
k
sh

ir
e

W
e
st

 D
e
vo

n
A

lle
rd

al
e

E
as

t 
L
in

d
se

y
Is

le
 o

f 
W

ig
h
t

So
u
th

 L
ak

e
la

n
d

C
o
p
e
la

n
d

N
e
t 

ad
d
it

io
n
s 

2
0
1
1
-2

0
2
1
 

re
la

ti
ve

 t
o

 E
n
ga

ln
d

Page 49



14 

 

 

5.23 Given this context, it is clear that previous rates of housing delivery in Cotswold District have 

been amongst the highest of any other similar areas. There is therefore no justification for the 

updated housing requirement to be any higher than the identified housing need. 

Should the updated housing requirement be increased or decreased based on 

housing affordability? 

5.24 Housing affordability is a critical input to the Government’s standard methodology for 

calculating housing need, and the District Council recognises that Cotswold District has an 

acute housing affordability issue, which has got increasingly worse over the past 25 years. 

Rother

New 

Forest
Cotswold

High 

Peak
Craven

ChichesterSouth Lakeland West 

BerkshireScarborough

Copeland
Tunbridge 

Wells
Ribble 

Valley

WealdenEden

Sevenoaks

Mid 

Sussex

Richmondshire
Derbyshire DalesDorset

East 

Devon

East 

Hampshire

LancasterLewes

South 

Hams

Adur

Waverley

West Devon

Somerset West 

and Taunton

Allerdale WiltshireStroudIsle of Wight

Folkestone 

and Hythe

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

3% 4% 5% 6% 7% 8% 9% 10% 11% 12% 13% 14% 15%

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

ge
 A

O
N

B
/S

SS
I

Net additions to stock 2011-2021

Net additions to stock compared with percentage AONB/SSSI

Page 50



15 

 

 

5.25 Many people, particularly younger people, are unable to afford a home close to where they 

work, grew up or have a close connection to. This has an impact on community cohesion, the 

local economy and the viability of some services. Furthermore, it can lead to an increase in 

commuting from areas where housing is less expensive, which runs counter to the goals of 

tackling climate change and improving health and wellbeing. 

 

5.26 Whilst housing affordability is of significant concern to the District Council, many of the causes 

of housing unaffordability in Cotswold District are beyond the Council’s control. For example: 

 Wages have not kept pace with house price rises. 

 Developers can 'drip-feed' new homes into the market to ensure house prices remain 

high to maximise profits. 

 Land banking (i.e. land being used as a financial asset to increase share prices rather than 

to deliver housing). 

 Right to Buy has left a shortage of social-rented housing nationally. 

 Not enough social-rented housing has been built across the country. Subsidies have 

been cut. More recently, funds are being diverted towards dealing with fire safety issues 

and retrofit. 

 Quantitative easing, coupled with low interest rates, increased the ability of people to 

get a mortgage, which fuelled an increase in house prices. There are increasing concerns 

about the UK’s ability to finance loans secured in a low interest environment, with rates 

increasing rapidly during 2023 to address inflation. 

 Stamp Duty holidays have fuelled increased demand for housing. With more money to 

spend on buying a home, house prices have risen. 

 Second homes, holiday homes and buy to let have removed housing from the market 

that could otherwise be made available to those who want to own a single home, and 

the resulting increased demand within a reduced pool of housing stock inflates house 

prices and worsens affordability. 

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

1
9
9
7

1
9
9
8

1
9
9
9

2
0
0
0

2
0
0
1

2
0
0
2

2
0
0
3

2
0
0
4

2
0
0
5

2
0
0
6

2
0
0
7

2
0
0
8

2
0
0
9

2
0
1
0

2
0
1
1

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

2
0
1
6

2
0
1
7

2
0
1
8

2
0
1
9

2
0
2
0

2
0
2
1

2
0
2
2

R
at

io
 o

f 
m

e
d
ia

n
 h

o
u
se

 p
ri

ce
 t

o
 m

e
d
ia

n
 g

ro
ss

 

an
n
u
al

 w
o

rk
p
la

ce
-b

as
e
d
 i
n
co

m
e

Housing Affordability Ratios, 1997 to 2022

Cotswold District Gloucestershire South West England

Page 51



16 

 

 The impact of inflationary pressures resulting from global events such as the Covid 

pandemic and more recently Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. 

 A labour shortage in the construction workforce. 

 Increased costs of building materials and labour. 

 When new market homes are built, they are typically more expensive than the average 

house available in the market. So, counterintuitively, new housing can increase the 

average house price in an area. 

 

The relationship between affordability, housing need and housing delivery 

5.27 The graph below compares the relationship between affordability and housing delivery in the 

district. Whilst housing supply has significantly increased since the start of the plan period in 

2011, affordability has continued to deteriorate. 

 

5.28 However, there is a very weak correlation between the housing delivery and annual change to 

affordability. 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

A
ff
o
rd

ab
ili

ty
 r

at
io

N
e
t 

ad
d
it

io
n
s 

(d
w

e
lli

n
gs

)

Relationship between affordability and housing delivery

Net additions Affordability ratio

Page 52



17 

 

 

5.29 Through analysing the annual change in the affordability ratio and the net additions each year, 

we can establish the correlation coefficient r = -0.23 (with an r-squared value of 0.0543 and a 

downward trend). Any correlation coefficient that is closer to 0.0 than ±0.4 would be 

considered to be weak, so a correlation of -0.23 would be considered very weak. 

 

5.30 However, it perhaps more appropriate to consider the annual change in affordability relative 

to the difference between the change in stock and household growth. In other words, it is 

only when the stock is increasing faster than the number of households that affordability would 

be expected to improve. 

 

5.31 However, this results in an even weaker relationship, with a correlation coefficient of -0.18 

(with an r-squared value of 0.0341 and a downward trend). 

 

 

R² = 0.0543

-2.5

-2.0

-1.5

-1.0

-0.5

0.0

+0.5

+1.0

+1.5

+2.0

+2.5

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000

A
ff
o
rd

ab
ili

ty
 r

at
io

 (
an

n
u
al

 c
h
an

ge
)

Net additions (dwellings)

Correlation between delivery and change to affordability

R² = 0.0341

-2.5

-2.0

-1.5

-1.0

-0.5

0.0

+0.5

+1.0

+1.5

+2.0

+2.5

-100 0 +100 +200 +300 +400 +500 +600 +700

A
ff
o
rd

ab
ili

ty
 r

at
io

 (
an

n
u
al

 c
h
an

ge
)

Difference between change in dwelling stock and household growth

Correlation between delivery and change to affordability

Page 53



18 

 

5.32 Therefore, based on the evidence for the district over the last 20 years, higher levels of housing 

delivery are likely to have very limited impact on local affordability. 

 

5.33 For 2023-2024, step 1 of the standard method calculation identified a baseline need of 305dpa 

based on the projected household growth for Cotswold District; however, the adjustment 

factor at step 2 yielded an additional 188dpa based on a 61.8% uplift – so the affordability uplift 

represents 38% of the 493dpa housing need. This means that a large proportion of the housing 

need in Cotswold District and is already directed towards addressing the affordability of 

housing, principally due to the district’s housing affordability ratio being so high. 

 

5.34 Using the current standard methodology calculation, we can also establish the housing need 

of the district for previous years. The baseline is set using the national household growth 

projections for each year (using the 2014-based household projections in England) to project 

forward the average annual household growth over the following 10-year period. An 

adjustment factor is then applied to take account of affordability, based on the median 

workplace-based affordability ratios (published by the Office for National Statistics at a local 

authority level) for the relevant year. 

 

5.35 The graph below compares the relationship between the housing need of the district and 

housing delivery. 

 

5.36 Over the 10-year period 2001/02 to 2010/11 the standard method calculation identifies that 

the baseline housing need would have been 2,171 dwellings and the affordability uplift would 

have increased this by 874 to an overall housing need of 3,045 dwellings. During the same 

period, there was a total 3,140 net additions to the dwelling stock, so the housing need was 

met in full during that period. 

 

5.37 Similarly, the overall housing need for the 5-year period 2011/12 to 2015/16 totalled 2,204 

dwellings during which time there were 2,420 net additions to the dwelling stock. Therefore, 

housing supply exceeded housing need by 10%. 

 

238 248 264 278 289 303 303
326

384
413

452 436 419
442 455 453

478 495 484 485 500
533

493

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

2
0
0
1
/0

2

2
0
0
2
/0

3

2
0
0
3
/0

4

2
0
0
4
/0

5

2
0
0
5
/0

6

2
0
0
6
/0

7

2
0
0
7
/0

8

2
0
0
8
/0

9

2
0
0
9
/1

0

2
0
1
0
/1

1

2
0
1
1
/1

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5

2
0
1
5
/1

6

2
0
1
6
/1

7

2
0
1
7
/1

8

2
0
1
8
/1

9

2
0
1
9
/2

0

2
0
2
0
/2

1

2
0
2
1
/2

2

2
0
2
2
/2

3

2
0
2
3
/2

4

Relationship between the housing need and housing delivery

Household growth Affordability adjustment Net dwelling additions

Page 54



19 

 

5.38 There were then several years of very high housing delivery between 2016 and 2018. Despite 

this, housing affordability has continued to get worse and, as a consequence, annual housing 

need has continued to increase despite the substantial delivery of new homes. 

 

5.39 Housing needs are meant to be a minimum figure, not a maximum. Despite this, the analysis 

demonstrates that even with a large quantity of over delivery of housing, housing affordability 

in the district has continued to get worse. 

 

5.40 Given this context, and based on the evidence, there appears to be little (if any) relationship 

between housing supply and affordability in Cotswold District. Housing affordability is a multi-

faceted national issue. The provision of additional affordable housing resulting from the Local 

Plan will go some way towards helping the situation, but the Local Plan process has limited 

impact on the overall affordability of the housing in the district, which is shown to be a complex 

governmental policy issue. 

 

5.41 It can therefore be concluded that the latest affordability ratios do not provide any justification 

for setting a higher (or lower) housing requirement. Nevertheless, the Council will continue 

to seek to maximise the amount of affordable housing that is delivered, both through the 

planning system and through other mechanisms, to help as many local households as possible. 

Should the updated housing requirement be increased or decreased to deliver more 

affordable housing? 

5.42 Over the 12-year period since the start of the Local Plan, a total of 2,024 affordable homes 

have been delivered, though the figure excludes losses of affordable homes from 52 sales under 

the Right to Buy26 and affordable homes demolished in regeneration schemes. Therefore, net 

additions to the stock total 1,972 affordable homes, equivalent to an average of 164 homes 

per year. 

 

5.43 However, the planning system is only one mechanism available for delivering affordable 

housing, and the supply is being proactively boosted by Cotswold District Council and the 

Council’s partners. The Cotswold District Corporate Plan27 aims to deliver more genuinely 

affordable housing and sets out a range of actions to do so. 

 

                                                           
26 Right to Buy data covers the 11-year period 2011-2022 as figures are not yet available for 2022/23 
27 Cotswold District Council Corporate Plan 2020-2024 (Spring 2022 Update) 

Page 55

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/kbqdj51w/cdc-corporate-strategy-2022.pdf


20 

 

 

Affordable housing delivered through the planning system 

5.44 The Cotswold Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) Affordable Housing Further 

Update (HDH, April 2016) and associated errata note (May 2017) identified the total need for 

affordable housing to be 157 dwellings per year from 2015 to 2031. 

 

5.45 The examining Inspector of the adopted Local Plan concluded that this affordable housing need 

could not be met in full through the planning system. A balance had to be struck in order to 

achieve sustainable development with regard to delivering affordable housing and the need to 

protect the high quality built and natural environment and to avoid long distance commuting. 

 

5.46 The bulk of affordable housing delivery comes from Local Plan Policy H2, which requires up 

to 30% affordable housing on qualifying brownfield sites and up to 40% affordable housing on 

qualifying greenfield sites. Several further policies add to the affordable housing supply28. At 

the time of the Local Plan examination, the Local Plan policies were expected to deliver 

approximately 100 affordable homes a year through the planning system, which represented 

64% of the District’s affordable housing need identified by the SHMA. On that basis, the 

Inspector concluded that the affordable housing policies were sound29. 

 

Affordable housing resulting from the updated Housing Strategy 

5.47 The Council’s Housing Strategy will further boost the delivery of affordable housing, whilst 

also addressing the holistic causes of housing affordability in Cotswold District. The Strategy 

considers housing affordability holistically by addressing the causes of people not being able to 

afford a home in the District and identifies eight further areas where action can be taken to 

increase the supply of affordable homes and to support household budgets.  

 

5.48 The focus areas are: 

 Neighbourhood development plans. 

 Development management: planning permission. 

                                                           
28 E.g. Local Plan Policies H3 and H4 
29 See paragraphs 55, 56 and 209 of the Report on the Examination of the Cotswold District Local Plan 2011-2031 (PINS, 5 

June 2018, PINS Ref: PINS/F1610/429/2) 

Page 56



21 

 

 Extending the rural area designation to cover most of the 20% of the district, which is 

not located within the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

 Reducing household bills and delivering low carbon or zero carbon homes. 

 Supporting young people. 

 Providing a downsizing strategy to support older people to move into more suitable 

accommodation and to enable additional larger family homes to become available for 

families who need them. 

 Tackling the impact of second homes, holiday homes and Airbnb have on the District’s 

housing stock. 

 Helping wages to keep pace with house prices. 

 

Affordable housing resulting from the Council’s partnership with Registered Providers 

5.49 The Council is working in partnership with several Registered Providers to buy land for 100% 

affordable housing schemes; regenerate existing sites (often at higher densities); deliver 

affordable housing on Council-owned sites; use grant funding to convert market housing into 

affordable homes; and sell Council owned assets to raise funds to deliver more affordable 

homes. 

 

5.50 For example: 

 Patterson Road, Cirencester (36 social rented homes - Bromford): In 2020, 36 new, 

energy efficient homes were completed to update and replace existing affordable 

housing that was no longer fit for purpose. These provide a mix of affordable rent and 

shared ownership homes, built to modern energy efficiency standards, for local 

residents. 

 Churnbridge Row, North Cerney (12 affordable homes - Cirencester Housing): In 2020, 

12 new affordable homes were completed in North Cerney. The Council granted 

funding for the completion of the development, which played a big part in ensuring that 

these will always be affordable homes for local people. The scheme comprises 10 

houses and flats for affordable rent and two houses for shared ownership. 

 Wickhams Field, Tetbury (30 social rented homes - Bromford): In April 2022, a 30-

dwelling affordable housing development was completed at Wickhams Field, Tetbury. 

The site is now fully occupied with most residents having a connection to the town. The 

30 homes are a mixture of two and three-bedroom houses and one-bedroom flats, all 

of which are for social rent. 

 Chamberlayne Close, Stow-on-the-Wold (18 social rented homes - Bromford): In July 

2022, 18 energy efficient homes for social rent were completed in Stow-on-the-Wold. 

The previous homes were identified under the Sheltered Housing Review as being no 

longer fit for purpose for elderly customers and they had a poor energy efficiency 

rating. 

 Stockwells, Moreton-in-Marsh (28 social rented homes - Bromford): Stockwells cul-de-

sac in Moreton is being redeveloped to provide 28 new net zero carbon social rented 

homes. The development will be the first affordable modular build of its kind in the 

Cotswolds. The existing homes at Stockwells were built in the 1950s and were not 

energy efficient. The scheme involves demolishing the 24 existing homes and replacing 

them with 28 modern, energy-efficient homes which are affordable for tenants to run. 

The new homes will be completely gas-free and all homes will be fitted with air source 

heating and solar panels to align with the Council’s drive for all affordable housing to be 

green to the core. 

Page 57



22 

 

 Leaholme Court, Cirencester (44 apartments - Bromford): 44 new apartments for 

social rent were completed at Leaholme Court in summer 2022, replacing 46 flats built 

in the early 1960’s that were no longer fit for purpose. 

 Cross Tree Crescent and Oakley Flats, Kempsford (27 1-3 bedroom houses and 2 

bedroom bungalows - Bromford): A scheme is underway to demolish 14 sub-standard 

existing houses and 12 flats and to rebuild 27 new affordable 1, 2 and 3 bedroom 

houses and 2 bedroom bungalows. Oakley Flats are currently under construction and 

due for completion spring 2023. Cross Tree Crescent is to follow thereafter. These will 

be modern, energy efficient homes, which are affordable for people to live in and run. 

 The Sunground, Avening (14 new social rented and shared ownership homes - 

Bromford): Work has commenced on the development of three 2-bedroom and six 1-

bedroom social rented homes and four 2-bedroom and one 3-bedroom shared 

ownership homes. These will include various features that will make the homes more 

carbon efficient and cheaper to operate, such the homes having an air source heat pump 

for heating and hot water; electric vehicle charging points; solar panel; provision of 

water butts; secure cycle storage; and provision of broadband. 

 Land at Davies Road, Moreton-in-Marsh (15 social rented homes - Cottsway): This 

development will provide 15 low-carbon homes for social rent, including a mix of one, 

two and three-bed properties. The scheme is due to be completed in 2024 and will 

include sustainable features such as air-source heat pumps and enhanced levels of 

insulation. 

 Land adjacent to Broadleaze, Down Ampney (a social rented housing development - 

Bromford): Cotswold District Council own land adjacent to Broadleaze in Down 

Ampney, which is allocated in the Local Plan for housing development. The Council is 

currently working with Bromford Housing to bring forward a scheme for 15 social 

rented, energy efficient homes. 

 Sale of The Cotswold Club in Cirencester30: In August 2022, the Council sold The 

Cotswold Club in Cirencester to invest in more net zero affordable housing. This is a 

further commitment from the Council to boost the delivery of affordable housing 

through the realisation of its assets. 

 Use of grant funding to buy market homes: The Council has used grant funding to 

purchase 118 additional affordable homes on five sites since 2011. Further market 

homes will be purchased in future as and when opportunities arise. 

 Berkeley Close, South Cerney: Bromford propose to replace 59 concrete constriction 

homes with around 84 modern, energy-efficient homes. A planning application will be 

submitted in summer 2023. 

 

Affordable housing delivery since the Local Plan was adopted 

5.51 Since the Local Plan was adopted, several additional years of monitoring data have become 

available. The graph below compares the annual affordable housing need identified by the 

SHMA (which was assessed from 2015 onwards) with affordable housing delivery. 

 

                                                           
30 Cotswold News: Cotswold District Council sells The Cotswold Club to invest in more net zero affordable housing 

(22.08.2022) 

Page 58

https://news.cotswold.gov.uk/news/cotswold-district-council-sells-the-cotswold-club-to-invest-in-more-net-zero-affordable-housing


23 

 

 

5.52 In summary: 

 Between 2015 and 2023, the District delivered 1,336 affordable homes (net) with 30 

sales under the Right to Buy, resulting in an average increase of 163 affordable homes a 

year). This included 181 social rented homes (an average of 23 per year). 

 Between 2023 and 2031, developments with planning permission and remaining Local 

Plan site allocations are expected to deliver 675 additional affordable homes (net) (an 

average of 84 per year). Based on historic delivery and future trends, it is conservatively 

estimated that around 192 further affordable homes will be delivered as windfalls 

between 2023 and 2031 (an average of 24 per year)31. Based on the current housing 

land supply, total affordable housing delivery between 2023 and 2031 is therefore 

expected to be 867 affordable homes delivered through the planning system (an average 

of 108 per year). The Council will also continue to maximise affordable housing 

delivered through other mechanisms. 

 Total affordable housing delivery over the 20-year Local Plan period 2011 to 2031 is 

expected to be at least 2,839 homes (net) (142 affordable homes per year on average). 

 

Why have more affordable homes been delivered than were estimated for the Local Plan? 

5.53 Although the affordable housing delivery rate of just over 140 affordable homes a year over 

the Plan period is 30%+ higher than the figure of 100 affordable homes year that the Local 

Plan Inspector considered to be a reasonable target for the Plan, it is important to recognise 

that the overall number of homes delivered has exceeded the 420 per year average housing 

                                                           
31 NPPF (2021) Annex 2 defines windfall sites as “Sites not specifically identified in the development plan.” An explanation 

of how the estimate of future windfall delivery in Cotswold District is calculated and the justification for using a windfall 

allowance in the housing trajectory is provided at pages 7 to 18 of the Housing Land Supply Report (CDC, July 2022). In 

addition to the guidelines provided in that report for assessing windfall delivery, the following additional guidelines have 

been used for determining whether affordable housing developments count as windfalls: 

- Any additional affordable housing delivered on 100% affordable housing sites are counted as windfall affordable 

housing (the number of windfalls excludes the 30% or 40% requirement that would already have been delivered on 

those sites if the site is within or adjacent to the development boundaries of one of the 17 Principal Settlements 

identified in the Local Plan). 

Market homes bought with grant funding and have been converted into affordable housing are counted as windfall 

affordable homes. 

87

257
243

285

136
114

92 92

157 157 157 157 157 157 157 157

75

125

175

225

275

325

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
A

ff
o
rd

ab
le

 H
o

m
e
s

Affordable Housing Need vs Affordable Housing Delivery

Affordable Housing Delivery Affordable Housing Need

Page 59

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/wz3jpxpy/1-2-09-housing-land-supply-report-2022.pdf


24 

 

requirement. As affordable housing will be delivered as a proportion of overall housing 

delivery, the higher number of market homes already delivered has yielded a higher return of 

affordable homes. The reality is that the Local Plan does not set an upper limit market or 

affordable housing delivery. 

 

5.54 Importantly, the delivery rate of over 140 affordable homes per year includes affordable 

housing delivered through all mechanisms (and not only the affordable housing delivered 

through the planning system) so it reflects the considerable wider efforts of the District 

Council and its partners. However, this still remains below the housing need of 157 affordable 

homes per year that was identified by the SHMA. 

 

Updated affordable housing need: the Gloucestershire Local Housing Needs Assessment 

(ORS, September 2020) 

5.55 The Gloucestershire Local Housing Needs Assessment (LHNA) (ORS, September 2020) 

reassessed the affordable housing need of Cotswold District. It identified an overall need for 

2,497 affordable homes for the period 2021-2041. This included 248 households as the net 

current need in 2021 and a net newly arising need of 113 households per year on average over 

the 20-year period. 

 

5.56 On this basis, for the LHNA period that falls within the current Local Plan period (i.e. 2021-

2031) the overall need for affordable housing is around 1,378 households (i.e. (10 years x 113 

of newly arising households) + 248 households with current need). 

 

5.57 In terms of delivering this figure: 

 191 affordable homes were delivered from between April 2021 and March 2023, though 

there were seven dwellings sold under the Right to Buy in 2021/22 reducing the total to 

184 net additions. 

 675 affordable homes are expected from sites with planning permission and remaining 

Local Plan site allocations between April 2023 and March 2031. 

 35 affordable homes Fairford Neighbourhood Development Plan site allocation. 

 192 affordable homes are expected to be delivered as windfalls between April 2023 and 

March 2031. 

 

5.58 Based on affordable homes already delivered and the supply currently identified, it is estimated 

that 1,086 affordable homes will be delivered between 2021 and 2031. This represents nearly 

four fifths (79%) of the need of 1,378 households that was identified by the LHNA for this 

period, with a shortfall of 292 additional affordable homes needed in order to meet the need 

in full. 

 

5.59 For development to be included in the Local Plan housing supply, it has to have a reasonable 

prospect of delivery in accordance with strict national policy tests. The effect in Cotswold 

District is often a conservative underestimate of what will actually be delivered – so it is likely 

that more affordable homes will be delivered in practice, as evidenced by the affordable 

housing delivery since the Local Plan was adopted (163 affordable homes a year) being so much 

higher than the figure that could be demonstrated during the Local Plan examination (100 

affordable homes a year). 

 

Affordable housing resulting from the Local Plan Partial Update 

5.60 The Local Plan Partial Update includes various proposals that will further boost the delivery 

of affordable housing. For example: 

Page 60



25 

 

 Policy H1 proposes to improve housing affordability by: 

- Increasing the requirement for smaller house types, which are generally more 

affordable. 

- Increasing the requirement for bungalows, which will enable older people to 

downsize and will free up larger accommodation for family housing. 

 Policy H2 proposes to boost affordable housing delivery by: 

- Increasing the affordable housing requirement up from 40% on qualifying greenfield 

sites to potentially as high as 50% (as it was in the previous Local Plan). 

- Reducing the threshold for which affordable housing is required in designated rural 

areas to from 5 to 3 dwellings. 

- Reducing the threshold for which affordable housing is required in all other 

locations from 11 to 10 dwellings. 

- Requiring affordable housing on sites of 0.5 hectares or more, which is currently 

not requirement in the Local Plan. 

- Closing a loophole, which currently enables affordable housing contributions to be 

avoided where multiple small schemes gain planning permission, which on their 

own do not require trigger an affordable housing contribution but in combination 

would. 

- Requiring that affordable housing must delivered on site in all but exceptional 

circumstances, wherever in the district the development is located. 

- Requiring 25% of affordable homes to be First Homes with a 50% discount of the 

market price. 

- Providing policy support for entry level exception sites outside the Cotswolds 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

- Clarifying the circumstances when viability is a reason to not provide affordable 

housing, particularly the price that is paid for land. 

 

Conclusion on whether the Local Plan housing requirement should be increased or 

decreased to deliver more affordable housing 

5.61 The provision of additional affordable housing resulting from the Local Plan can go some way 

towards helping the housing situation, and the Council is keen to ensure that is does all it can 

to enable people to afford a home in Cotswold District. In this regard: 

 The housing need, as calculated by the standard methodology, already includes a 188dpa 

(62%) uplift to the household projections to help address the affordability of housing 

within district. 

 Based on a supply of existing planning permissions, site allocations and windfalls, it is 

estimated that 1,051 affordable homes will be delivered between 2021 and 2031 (76% of 

the identified need for 1,378 affordable homes in this period). 

 The Local Plan Partial Update includes various proposals, which would deliver additional 

affordable homes. This includes considering the allocation of additional sites to provide 

further contingency and increased certainty that the updated housing need will be met 

in full and various updates to affordable housing policies. As with the extant Local Plan, 

Page 61



26 

 

the updated Local Plan policies will set a minimum housing requirement and will not 

prevent over-delivery. 

 The Council’s Housing Strategy will further boost the delivery of affordable housing, 

whilst also addressing the holistic causes of housing affordability in Cotswold District. 

 

5.62 At the time of the examination of the adopted Local Plan, the Local Plan Inspector considered 

it to be reasonable for the Local Plan to deliver 64% of the identified affordable housing need. 

On that basis, the Inspector concluded that the affordable housing policies were sound. 

 

5.63 The affordable housing supply between 2021 and 2031 is already expected to deliver 76% of 

the affordable housing need, which is 12 percentage points higher than the estimated amount 

of affordable housing delivery at the examination of the adopted Local Plan. Added to this, the 

proposed updates to the Local Plan housing policies and the Council’s Housing Strategy will 

close the gap further – or possibly fully deliver – the affordable housing need. 

 

5.64 Based on the evidence for the district over the last 20 years, higher levels of housing delivery 

are likely to have very limited impact on local affordability. Housing affordability is a 

multifaceted national issue, the solution(s) are largely beyond the control / influence of the 

Local Plan. 

 

5.65 There is therefore no need to increase the housing requirement in order to further boost the 

delivery of affordable homes. 

Should the updated housing requirement be increased or decreased to 

accommodate housing needs resulting from growth strategy of the area? 

5.66 Whilst Cotswold District has several larger employers, thriving town centres and an economy 

that is recovering well from the Coronavirus pandemic, the growth strategy for the area is 

relatively small-scale compared to more urban areas with more strategic growth aspirations. 

This is illustrated by the adopted Local Plan, which requires 24ha of employment between 

2011 and 2031. 

 

5.67 The Council’s Green Economic Growth Strategy32 aims to deliver green economic growth by 

creating a dynamic, vibrant and balanced economy in the Cotswolds by growing high value, 

highly-skilled, low environmental impact commerce in the District. The Strategy identifies, in 

common with Gloucestershire’s Draft Local Industrial Strategy33, agritech, cyber/digital, green 

technologies and tourism as key growth sectors for the District. It also identifies the 

importance of housing growth in the District’s economic recovery and that housing 

affordability is a significant issue for the District, which can cause businesses to face skill and 

labour shortages. 

 

5.68 Nevertheless, paragraph 56 of the Inspector’s report of the examination of the Local Plan, 

states that, “As the OAN assumes a population increase sufficient to fill all of the additional 
jobs expected to be created in the district, increasing the housing requirement further would 
be likely to lead to net out commuting and therefore longer journeys by private motor 
vehicles.”34 The original housing requirement of 8,400 dwellings provided sufficient new homes 

to ensure a balance between jobs and workers over the 20-year Local Plan period, and there 

is a continued risk that any increase would still be likely to lead to increased out-commuting. 

The housing land supply over the 20 year Local Plan period is now expected to be nearly 

                                                           
32 Cotswold District Green Economic Growth Strategy (adopted December 2020) 
33 Gloucestershire’s Draft Local Industrial Strategy (Gfirst LEP, 2019) 
34 Report on the Examination of the Cotswold District Local Plan 2011-2031 (PINS, 5 June 2018. ref: PINS/F1610/429/2) 

Page 62

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/8d8cd14c06c4ae7/green-economic-growth-strategy.pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/industrial-strategy
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/qphl2eca/inspector-s-main-report-including-a-non-technical-summary-for-cotswold-local-plan.pdf


27 

 

10,000 net additional homes. Any further increase to the housing requirement would likely 

deliver further housing could lead to an imbalance between jobs and workers and an increase 

risk of out-commuting. 

 

5.69 The Gloucestershire Local Housing Needs Assessment35 has assessed the alignment between 

future jobs and workers over the 20-year period 2021-2041. At the time of the study, the 

minimum local housing need (LHN) figure was 490 dpa and delivering that number of homes 

annually would have led to an increase of 4,291 economically active residents, of which 3,700 

would have been likely to work in the local area. That increase was considerably higher than 

the jobs growth identified by the Oxford Economics baseline forecast, though aligned with the 

medium-high scenario. Whilst more workers would have been needed to align with the 

Cambridge Econometrics forecast, paragraph 5.19 of the LHNA noted that the surplus of 

workers elsewhere in the Gloucestershire Housing Market Area could ensure alignment with 

only small changes to net commuting patterns. 

 

5.70 Nevertheless, there is clearly significant uncertainty about the extent of future economic 

growth, as illustrated by the different forecasts. There is also uncertainty about the long-term 

impact of recent changes to the employment market (especially with regard to the number of 

employees working from home) which may also have impacted commuting patterns since the 

2011 Census. Given this context, whilst the Council recognises the need for broad alignment 

between housing and employment growth, it is cautious about placing undue weight on any 

one set of figures given these inherent uncertainties. It is also clear that the caution raised by 

the Local Plan Inspector about increases to net out-commuting and therefore longer journeys 

by private motor vehicle remains relevant. 

 

5.71 Given this context, it seems likely that the growth strategy of the area continues to align with 

the planned housing, so there is therefore no justification for the housing requirement to be 

any higher than the identified housing need on this basis. 

Should the updated housing requirement be increased or decreased to 

accommodate housing needs resulting from strategic infrastructure projects? 

5.72 There are two relevant strategic infrastructure projects in Cotswold District. These have been 

assessed to establish whether the housing requirement should be increased to accommodate 

additional housing growth resulting from these projects. 

 

Upscaling of activities at RAF Fairford 

5.73 An upscaling of activities is planned at RAF Fairford, which will increase the number of United 

States Air Force personnel who are stationed in this location. The housing requirements for 

this project have been assessed36 and the implications of the project on housing needs have 

been taken into consideration in the Gloucestershire Local Housing Needs Assessment37. The 

project was not considered to have any implications that required an uplift the 490 dwelling 

local housing need. An update from RAF Fairford in 2023 confirmed the situation remains 

unchanged. 

A417 Missing Link 

5.74 The Missing Link project aims to reduce delays and increase safety on a three-mile stretch of 

single-lane carriageway on the A417 between the Brockworth bypass and Cowley roundabout, 

which is on the north-western edge of Cotswold District. The project will free up an important 

                                                           
35 Gloucestershire Local Housing Needs Assessment (ORS, September 2020) 
36 RAF Fairford Housing Requirements and Market Analysis 2018-2023 (RDN Inc. on behalf of the USAF)  
37 See paragraphs 9.31 to 9.39 

Page 63

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/b43lc01k/3110-gloucestershire-local-housing-needs-assessment-sept-2020.pdf


28 

 

route from Gloucester to Swindon. The scheme has four key objectives, including economic 

growth: “to help boost growth and prosperity by making journeys more reliable and improving 

connectivity”. 

 

5.75 The Development Consent Order was approved in November 2022 and works are expected 

to start in 2023. 

 

5.76 Whilst both projects will provide improvements to the local infrastructure and could result in 

higher levels of demand than would have been suggested by past trends in isolation, it is 

important to recognise that the standard method calculation for housing need incorporates a 

significant uplift to the trend-based figures. 

 

5.77 The household projections identified a trend-based growth of 305 households each year at 

step 1 of the standard method calculation, but this is increased by 61.8% at step 2 as a 

consequence of the affordability adjustment. 

 

5.78 Housing need identified by the standard method is therefore higher than the trend-based 

household growth, as the affordability adjustment helps meet the policy objective of 

significantly boosting the supply of homes. It is likely that strategic infrastructure will need to 

be delivered to help meet that policy objective and whilst more homes will be delivered, this 

will fundamentally enable the growth already captured within the standard method housing 

need rather than being additional to it. 

Should the updated housing requirement be increased or decreased to protect areas 

or assets of particular importance? 

5.79 National policy identifies several areas or assets of particular importance, which can provide 

a strong reason for restricting the overall scale, type or distribution of development in a plan 

area38. Of particular relevance to Cotswold District are: 

 Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty / National Landscape (the AONB); 

 Green Belt; 

 Local Green Spaces; 

 Irreplaceable habitats; 

 Habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 181 of the NPPF) and/or designated as 

Sites of Special Scientific Interest; 

 Designated heritage assets (and other heritage assets of archaeological interest referred 

to in footnote 68 of the NPPF); and 

 Areas at risk of flooding. 

 

5.80 These issues can be considered at both the macro (district-wide) scale and micro (settlement 

/ site specific) scale. 

Macro (district-wide) scale 

5.81 The AONB covers 80% of Cotswold District. A further 6% of the District is designated as a 

Special Landscape Area, much of which provides an important setting and an effective buffer 

for the AONB. A further 6% of the District is located within Cotswold Water Park, a large 

                                                           
38 NPPF (2021) paragraph 11 and Footnote 7 

Page 64



29 

 

proportion of which is designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest39. The District also 

incorporates a small part of the Gloucester and Cheltenham Green Belt. 

Figure 1: Map showing the Cotswolds AONB, Special Landscape Areas, Cotswold Water 

Park and the Gloucester and Cheltenham Green Belt 

 

5.82 The District also has: 

 33 registered historic parks and gardens 

 144 Conservation Areas (more than any other District in England) 

                                                           
39 Cotswold Water Park confirmed as a Site of Special Scientific Interest 

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/cotswold-water-park-confirmed-as-a-site-of-special-scientific-interest#:~:text=and%20nature%20reserves-,Cotswold%20Water%20Park%20confirmed%20as%20a%20Site%20of%20Special%20Scientific,in%20and%20by%20the%20lakes.


30 

 

 5,004 entries on the statutory list of buildings of special architectural and historic 

interest (second after City of Westminster) 

 238 Scheduled ancient monuments 

 Various habitats sites, including: 

- 2 internationally designated Special Areas of Conservation 

- 37 other nationally designated Sites of Special Scientific Interest and 1 National 

Nature Reserve  

- Various other locally designated sites, such as Local Sites, Key Wildlife 

Sites and Local Nature Reserves 

- Various areas of Priority Habitat40. 

 

5.83 Many of these areas or assets are located within the 8% of the district that is not within the 

Cotswolds AONB, a Special Landscape Area, Cotswold Water Park or the Green Belt. 

 

5.84 Eight of the District’s Principal Settlements, as defined by Local Plan Policy DS1, are completely 

within the AONB41. A further five Principal Settlements are bound by the AONB on one or 

more sides and form part of the setting in the AONB42. 

 

5.85 National policy requires that great weight should be to be given to the conservation and 

enhancement of AONBs, which have the highest status of protection in relation to these 

issues. Furthermore, the scale and extent of development within AONBs is required to be 

limited, while development within their setting should be sensitively located and designed to 

avoid or minimise adverse impacts on the AONB43. 

 

5.86 The existing Local Plan sought to meet the identified housing need in full, despite these 

extensive constraints. Furthermore, the rate of housing delivery in Cotswold District has been 

amongst the highest of any area with such constraints. 

 

5.87 Although the standard method increases the housing need for the remaining years of the Plan, 

it is necessary to consider whether an increase in the housing requirement can be 

accommodated given the land constraints of the District. However, it is also appropriate to 

recognise that the identified housing need can be delivered in full without any further step-

change to housing delivery. 

 

5.88 It is clear that there would be arguments for setting a housing requirement below the identified 

housing need due to the land constraints. However, any unmet need would then need to be 

addressed, which would not be necessary if the identified need could be met in full within the 

District. 

Should the updated housing requirement be increased or decreased to promote a 

sustainable pattern of development and mitigate climate change? 

5.89 When the Local Plan was examined, it was found sound on the basis that housing delivery in 

the later part of the plan period would decrease in order to rebalance the extremely high 

                                                           
40 These are wildlife habitats that are listed at section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 as 

being habitats of principal importance for biodiversity. 
41 Andoversford, Blockley, Bourton-on-the-Water, Chipping Campden, Northleach, Stow-on-the-Wold, Tetbury and 

Upper Rissington 
42 Cirencester, Kemble, Mickleton, Moreton-in-Marsh and Willersey 
43 NPPF (2021) paragraph 176 

Page 66

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-23
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/
http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/designatedareas/nnr/default.aspx
http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/designatedareas/nnr/default.aspx
https://www.gloucestershirewildlifetrust.co.uk/wildlife/key-wildlife-sites
https://www.gloucestershirewildlifetrust.co.uk/wildlife/key-wildlife-sites
http://www.lnr.naturalengland.org.uk/Special/lnr/lnr_search.asp
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/16/contents
http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/biodiversity/protectandmanage/habsandspeciesimportance.aspx


31 

 

rates of delivery earlier in the plan period and, in so doing, the Local Plan would deliver 

sustainable levels of growth. Indeed, the District had not delivered anywhere near the average 

annual rate of growth prior to 2011. The Local Plan inspector considered that, “As the OAN 

assumes a population increase sufficient to fill all of the additional jobs expected to be created 

in the district, increasing the housing requirement further would be likely to lead to net out 

commuting and therefore longer journeys by private motor vehicles… Whilst the market in 

the district may be sufficiently strong to mean that adopting such an approach would be 

effective in driving up supply, a balance has to be struck in order to achieve sustainable 

development having regard to the high quality of the built and natural environment and the 

need to avoid long distance commuting.” 

 

5.90 Around 5,580 homes were delivered in the first half of the Local Plan period – 66% of the 

entire Local Plan housing requirement – with the annual delivery rate peaking at 911 dwellings 

in 2017/18. This compares to the average annual housing requirement of 420 homes a year. 

 

5.91 The development strategy is playing out as planned and the average annual delivery rate 

between 2019/20 and 2022/23 has fallen back down to 350 homes a year (or 366 homes a 

year if an allowance for the net increase in bedrooms in communal accommodation is 

included). 

 

5.92 The issue is now that housing requirements must be reviewed once every five years. Step 1 of 

the standard method formula for calculating housing need relies on household projections, 

which derive from household growth rates. The district’s high level of over-delivery of housing 

will be reflected in the household growth rates, which will also increase. This means that future 

housing need calculations will also likely increase. The issue is self-perpetuating and results in 

an ever increasing housing need if the housing requirement is delivered in full. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.93 If the housing requirement is not delivered in full, a situation arises where the Council is likely 

to not have a five-year housing land supply or fail the Housing Delivery Test. In this situation, 

plan-led development can be circumnavigated by applications for housing development in 

otherwise unsuitable locations and where there is likely to be less opportunity to deliver 

benefits, particularly mitigating the impacts of climate change by locating housing in the most 

accessible locations. Applications are instead determined in accordance with the NPPF’s 

‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’.44 

 

5.94 The Government’s standard method approach continues to rely on 2014-based projections, 

which are informed by trends that largely pre-date the current Plan period. They therefore do 

not include the extreme peaks in housing delivery early in the Local Plan period and are 

therefore an appropriate basis on which to calculate the housing need. 

                                                           
44 NPPF (2021) paragraph 11 

Increased 

household growth 

rate 

Increased 

housing 

need / 

requirement 

Increased 

housing 

delivery 

Page 67

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments


32 

 

 

5.95 The Plan seeks to ensure alignment between jobs and workers and minimise any additional 

net outward commuting. The Council is also seeking to provide as much affordable housing as 

possible, to ensure that local households can continue to live near to their families. 

 

5.96 Whilst the Council recognises that many households want to live in the District, it is unlikely 

that any increase in the housing requirement could be accommodated given the land 

constraints. Despite these constraints, the existing Local Plan sought to meet the identified 

housing need in full and the rate of housing delivery in Cotswold District has been amongst 

the highest of any area with such constraints. However, it would be unsustainable for the 

housing requirement to be higher than the identified housing need as, counterintuitively, 

increasing the housing requirement results in an increased housing need and unsustainable 

rates of development for Cotswold District, which is a heavily constrained rural area. 

6. Has the applicable local housing need figure changed significantly? 

6.1 This part of the report specifically determines whether the applicable local housing need has 

changed significantly. This is a distinct from other sections of this report in that it will update 

the Council’s review of the adopted Local Plan published in 2020, specifically the applicable 

local housing need figure. This is an important consideration in the balance of issues that 

determine whether the adopted Local Plan requirement should be updated. A further outcome 

is to guide the development management process in helping to determine planning applications.  

What is the ‘applicable local housing need’ of Cotswold District? 

6.2 NPPF (2021) paragraph 33 specifies (added emphasis): 
 

Policies in local plans and spatial development strategies should be reviewed to assess 
whether they need updating at least once every five years, and should then be updated 
as necessary20. Reviews should be completed no later than five years from the 
adoption date of a plan, and should take into account changing circumstances affecting 
the area, or any relevant changes in national policy. Relevant strategic policies will 
need updating at least once every five years if their applicable local housing need figure 
has changed significantly; and they are likely to require earlier review if local housing 
need is expected to change significantly in the near future.  

 

Footnote 20: 

 

Reviews at least every five years are a legal requirement for all local plans (Regulation 
10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012). 

 

6.3 To be clear, the NPPF (2021) specifies that the measure is whether the local housing need 

figure has changed significantly. It does not say the measure is whether the housing 

requirement has changed significantly. 

 

6.4 There are good reasons for this. For example, the adopted requirement may have been set 

lower than the applicable housing need figure (e.g. due to constraints or a lack of land 

availability) or it might have been higher (e.g. due to it including unmet need from another 

area, or there being a policy-based decision to aim for a requirement that was higher than the 

identified need). In the case of Cotswold District, the adopted C2 requirement is for the 

period from 2017 to 2031 and does not include the six year period from 2011 to 2017. The 

combined C2 and C3 adopted requirement is therefore incomplete and does not provide a 

like for like comparison with the current applicable housing need. 

Page 68



33 

 

 

6.5 Notwithstanding this, consideration has been given to various scenarios of the original 

applicable housing need to provide further justification and rational. 

 

Table 1: Tested scenarios of original applicable housing need 

 Scenarios for 

original 

applicable 

housing need 

Applicable 

housing need 

(August 2023) 

Change to 

applicable 

housing need 

Scenario 1: C3 and C2 need 

identified in OAN report 

(NMSS, 2014) 

(i.e. 8,44845 + 217) 

8,665 

(433 per annum) 

9,094 

(455 per annum) 

429 (4.95%) 

Scenario 2: C3 need identified in 

OAN report (NMSS, 2014) and 

updated C2 need calculated 

with SHOP Tool during Local 

Plan examination 

(i.e. 8,448 + 32246) 

8,770 

(422 per annum 

from 2011 to 

2017) 

(443 per annum 

from 2017) 

9,094 

(455 per annum) 

324 (3.69%) 

Scenario 3: C3 need identified in 

OAN report (NMSS, 2014) and 

C2 need (calculated with SHOP 

Tool) identified in SHMA (2016) 

report 

(i.e. 8,448 + 41947) 

8,867 

(422 per annum 

from 2011 to 

2014) 

(447 per annum 

from 2014) 

9,094 

(455 per annum) 

227 (2.56%) 

Scenario 4: Adopted Local Plan 

combined C2 and C3 

requirement 

(i.e. 8,400 + 32248) 

8,722 

(420 per annum 

from 2011 to 

2017) 

9,094 

(455 per annum) 

372 (4.30%) 

 

Scenario 5: Adopted Local Plan 

C3 requirement 

(i.e. 8,400) 

8,400 

(420 per annum) 

9,094 

(455 per annum) 

694 (8.26%) 

Scenario 6: C3 and C2 need 

identified in NMSS (2016 

Update) report (i.e. 8,100 + 

217) 

8,316 

(416 per annum) 

9,094 

(455 per annum) 

778 (9.35%) 

 

6.6 The applicable housing need scenarios range from 8,316 to 8,867 dwellings. The change in the 

housing need from the six scenarios ranges from 778 dwellings (9.35%) to 227 dwellings 

(2.56%). 

 

6.7 Table 2 considers the advantages and disadvantages of each scenario. 

                                                           
45 The 2014 OAN report’s figures were published in Table 21A of The Objectively Assessed Housing Needs of Cotswold 

District (NMSS, December 2016) 
46 Based on the conversion of 580 bedspaces into an equivalent number of dwellings using the ratio provided by the 

Housing Delivery Test of 1 dwelling for every 1.8 C2 bedspaces. 
47 Based on the conversion of 755 bedspaces into an equivalent number of dwellings using the ratio provided by the 

Housing Delivery Test of 1 dwelling for every 1.8 C2 bedspaces. 
48 Based on the conversion of 580 bedspaces into an equivalent number of dwellings using the ratio provided by the 

Housing Delivery Test of 1 dwelling for every 1.8 C2 bedspaces. 

Page 69

file:///C:/Users/matthew.britton/Downloads/3.1.03%20Objectively%20Assessed%20Housing%20Need%20Report%20%25E2%2580%2593%20Dec%202016.pdf
file:///C:/Users/matthew.britton/Downloads/3.1.03%20Objectively%20Assessed%20Housing%20Need%20Report%20%25E2%2580%2593%20Dec%202016.pdf


34 

 

 

Table 2: Appraisal of housing need scenarios of original applicable housing need 

Scenario 1: C2 and C3 need identified in OAN Report (NMSS, 2014) (8,448 + 217) 

Advantages 

Covers whole Local Plan period from 2011 

to 2031. 

Consistent with standard methodology in 

that it includes both C2 and C3 needs. 

The C3 use class need was applied to the 

adopted policy DS1 requirement. 

Consistent with NPPF (2021) paragraph 33, 

as it is a need figure and not a requirement 

figure. 

Uses non-rounded figures so includes all of 

the need. 

Consistency between methodologies for 

calculating C2 and C3 needs within the 

same report. 

Disadvantages 

The C2 need was not applied to the 

adopted policy H4 requirement. 

Scenario 2: C3 need identified in OAN Report (NMSS, 2014) and updated C2 need 
calculated with SHOP Tool49 during Local Plan examination (8,448 + 322) 

Advantages 

Consistent with standard methodology in 

that it includes both C2 and C3 needs. 

Consistent with NPPF (2021) paragraph 33, 

as it is a need figure and not a requirement 

figure. 

The C3 need was applied to the adopted 

policy DS1 requirement. 

The C2 need was applied to adopted policy 

H4 requirement. 

Test whether the current applicable 

housing need affects both the C2 and C3 

requirements of policies DS1 and H4. 

Uses non-rounded figures so includes all of 

the need. 

Disadvantages 

Does not cover whole Local Plan period, as 

C2 need covers the period from 2017 to 

2031. 

Inconsistency between methodologies for 

calculating C2 and C3 needs from two 

different reports. 

Scenario 3: C3 need identified in OAN Report (NMSS, 2014) and C2 need (calculated 
with SHOP Tool) identified in SHMA (HDH, 2016) (8,448 + 419) 

Advantages 

Consistent with standard methodology in 

that it includes both C2 and C3 needs. 

Consistent with NPPF (2021) paragraph 33, 

as it is a need figure and not a requirement 

figure. 

The C3 need was applied to the adopted 

policy DS1 requirement. 

Disadvantages 

Does not cover whole Local Plan period, as 

C2 need covers the period from 2014 to 

2031. 

C2 need was not applied to the adopted 

policy H4 requirement. 

Inconsistency between methodologies for 

calculating C2 and C3 needs from two 

different reports. 

                                                           
49 Strategic Housing for Older People Analysis Tool – assessment done in 2017 

Page 70

https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/HousingExtraCare/ExtraCareStrategy/SHOP/SHOPAT/


35 

 

Same methodology as 2016 SHMA and 

covers more of the Local Plan period than 

the adopted policy. 

Uses non-rounded figures so includes all of 

the need. 

Scenario 4: Adopted Local Plan combined C2 and C3 requirement (8,400 + 322) 

Advantages 

Consistent with standard methodology in 

that it includes both C2 and C3 needs. 

Tests whether the change in need affects 

the adopted policies. 

Disadvantages 

Does not cover whole Local Plan period, as 

the C2 need covers the period from 2017 

to 2031. 

Inconsistent with NPPF (2021) paragraph 

33, as it is a requirement figure and not a 

need figure. 

Uses rounded figures so excludes some of 

the need. 

Inconsistency between methodologies for 

calculating C2 and C3 needs from two 

different reports. 

Scenario 5: Adopted Local Plan C3 requirement (8,400) 

Advantages 

Covers whole Local Plan period from 2011 

to 2031. 

Test whether the current applicable 

housing need affects the C2 requirement of 

policy DS1. 

 

Disadvantages 

Inconsistent with the standard 

methodology, as it does not include the C2 

requirement. 

Inconsistent with NPPF (2021) paragraph 

33, as it is a requirement figure and not a 

need figure. 

Does not test whether the current 

applicable housing need affects the C2 

requirement of policy H4. 

Uses rounded figures so excludes some of 

the need. 

Scenario 6: C3 and C2 need identified by OAN Update (NMSS, 2016) (8,100 + 217) 

Advantages 

Covers whole Local Plan period from 2011 

to 2031. 

Consistent with standard methodology in 

that it includes both C2 and C3 needs. 

Consistent with NPPF (2021) paragraph 33, 

as it is a need figure and not a requirement 

figure. 

Was the last housing need assessment 

before the standard methodology was 

introduced, although on this logic a 

previous figure produced from the standard 

methodology is equally applicable. 

Uses non-rounded figures so includes all of 

the need. 

Disadvantages 

Was not applied to the adopted Local Plan 

policies. Paragraph 6.1.1 of the adopted 

Local Plan explains the District’s objectively 

assessed need was 8,400 (rounded) and not 

the 8,100 dwellings in the 2016 update of 

this report). 

8,100 dwellings is a rounded figure, whereas 

the other figures are unrounded. 

The 217 figure derives from the analysis 

underwriting the 8,400 OAN and there is 

no equivalent table for the 8,100 figure. 

Does not test whether the current 

applicable housing need affects the C2 or 

C3 requirements of policy DS1 and H4. 

 

Page 71



36 

 

Consistency between methodologies for 

calculating C2 and C3 needs within the 

same report. 

 

6.8 On balance, Scenarios 1 and 2 are the most consistent with national policy and guidance. 

Scenario 2 was applied to the adopted Local Plan policies but does not contain a C2 need for 

the entire Local Plan period. Scenario 1, however, contains the C3 need that was applied to 

Policy DS1 and a C2 need for the entire Local Plan period, which was assessed in the same 

report as the C3 need. It is therefore reasonable to use Scenario 1 as the applicable local 

housing need. 

Defining ‘significant change’ 

6.9 Neither the NPPF (2021) or the Planning Practice Guidance provide a specific definition of 

what is meant by a “significant change" to help determine whether the applicable local housing 

need figure has changed significantly. However, NPPF (2021) paragraph 74(c) provides a 

definition of “significant” to determine whether there has been a significant under delivery of 

housing (added emphasis): 

 

The supply of specific deliverable sites should in addition include a buffer (moved 
forward from later in the plan period) of 20% where there has been significant under 
delivery of housing over the previous three years, to improve the prospect of 
achieving the planned supply 41. 
 
Footnote 41 This will be measured against the Housing Delivery Test, where this indicates 
that delivery was below 85% of the housing requirement. 

 

6.10 In other words, the NPPF (2021) defines “significant” when determining the level of under 

delivery to mean a shortfall of more than 15% of the housing requirement over the previous 

three year period. 

 

6.11 There is a strong relationship between the application of significant in NPPF (2021) paragraphs 

33 and 74(c). For example, both terms relate to the measurement of housing; both can apply 

to a measurement of the local housing need – as confirmed by the Housing Delivery Test 

Measurement Rule Book50; and both are used in the NPPF (2021) (as opposed to two separate 

documents where there may be greater scope for a variance between the two meanings). The 

meaning of significant in paragraph 74(c) is a reliable and useful indicator of what paragraph 33 

means as significant. 

 

6.12 The NPPF (2021) paragraph 74(c) definition of significant relates solely to a percentage figure 

(i.e. a percentage of the housing requirement or local housing need over the previous three 

year period). It does not specify an absolute figure for the number of homes that are 

considered to be significant. Paragraph 74(c) instead recognises that the measurement of 

significance can be different according to the individual circumstances of each local planning 

authority. 

 

6.13 If the 15% increase were to be applied in the context of paragraph 34, the 8,665 dwelling 

applicable local housing need results in a figure of 9,965 dwellings (a change of 1,300 dwellings). 

 

6.14 NPPF (2021) paragraph 74(c) provides further guidance in terms of the time period the change 

applies to. Significant under delivery of housing is determined to be under-delivering more 

                                                           
50 Housing Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book: Method for calculating the Housing Delivery Test result (MHCLG, July 

2018) 

Page 72



37 

 

than 15% of the housing requirement over the previous three year period. However, the 

applicable change to the housing need in Cotswold District applies to the Local Plan period. It 

is less of an issue to deliver housing over a longer time period.  

 

6.15 Further definition of the meaning of ‘significant’ is provided in several dictionaries. 

 Cambridge Dictionary: important or noticeable 

 Collins English Dictionary: important, notable, or momentous (in terms of statistics, 

this it is defined to be “of or relating to a difference between a result derived from a 
hypothesis and its observed value that is too large to be attributed to chance and that 
therefore tends to refute the hypothesis”) 

 Dictionary.com: important and deserving of attention; of consequence 

 Oxford Learner’s Dictionary: large or important enough to have an effect or to be 
noticed 

 

6.16 Whether something is noticeable, important, momentous, or of consequence supports the 

notion that whether something is significant or not requires context. For example, as a simple 

thought experiment, an increase in the housing need by one dwelling may not immediately be 

perceived to be noticeable or important. However, if the original housing need was for two 

dwellings, the one dwelling increase would be important enough to have effect and would be 

deserving of attention. Similarly, if there is an increased need for 1,000 dwellings, this may 

initially appear to be a large increase but if the housing need is for 660,000 homes over a ten 

year period or 66,000 a year (e.g. in the London Plan51), then the increase may not be 

considered to be significant and even more so in the context of a city area containing 3.7 

million homes and an expected growth rate of 70,000 people per annum to 204052. 

 

6.17 In summary, the NPPF (2021) definition of ‘significant under delivery’ being 15% of the housing 

requirement over the previous three year period is a it is a reliable and useful indicator of 

what the NPPF means as significant. Whether there has been a significant change to the housing 

need requires an understanding of whether the change is large or important enough to have 

an effect or to be noticed, which must relate to the local context. Ultimately, whether the 

change is significant is a matter of judgement for each local planning authority. 

Has the housing need changed significantly from an evidence-based analytical 

perspective? 

6.18 If the applicable housing need figure has changed significantly, then it will be necessary to 

update the relevant strategic policies. However, if there has not been any significant change 

then the Council can continue to rely on the existing adopted policies. 

 

6.19 Given the importance of this issue, the Council has commissioned Opinion Research Services 

(ORS), the consultancy that prepared the latest Gloucestershire Local Housing Needs 

Assessment, to review the evidence and consider whether or not there has been a significant 

change to the applicable local housing need figure based on their professional judgement. 

 

6.20 That independent review is provided as a separate Annex. 

 

6.21 The conclusions of the review set out the applicable local housing need figures in context to 

consider the possible significance of any change (paragraphs 34-36): 

                                                           
51 As set out at paragraph 4.1.1 of The London Plan (March 2021) 
52 https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf page 13 and Number of housing units in London 

from 2001 to 2021 

Page 73

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf
https://www.statista.com/statistics/585272/number-of-dwellings-london-uk/#:~:text=The%20capital%20city%20of%20England,of%20approximately%203.7%20million%20dwellings.
https://www.statista.com/statistics/585272/number-of-dwellings-london-uk/#:~:text=The%20capital%20city%20of%20England,of%20approximately%203.7%20million%20dwellings.


38 

 

 

The applicable local housing need figure was 8,665 dwellings at the time that the Local 
Plan was adopted.  The updated housing need figure has been calculated to be 9,094 
dwellings.  Although there is an absolute difference of 429 dwellings between the two 
specific figures, neither the original assessment nor the standard method calculation 
should be considered to represent a precise or definitive figure.  Instead, both figures 
provide a reasonable estimate of the scale of housing that is likely to be needed over 
the plan period. 
 
The original figure was based on a range of 7,800 to 9,500 dwellings (equivalent to an 
average of 390 dpa to 475 dpa) with a midpoint of 8,700 dwellings (435 dpa).  The 
updated housing need figure (9,094 dwellings, equivalent to an average of 455 dpa) 
falls within that original range. 
 
The difference of around 400 dwellings is equivalent to a change of 4.95% and 
represents an average of only 20 dpa.  Based on the various different uncertainties set 
out above, it is reasonable to conclude that this limited change will fall well within the 
margins of error associated with the two estimates.   

 

6.22 The review goes on to conclude (paragraph 41): 

 

The updated housing need figure represents a change of less than 5% and that is far 
lower than the threshold of 15% that the Framework considers to be significant in the 
context of housing delivery. Given this context, we can reasonably conclude that the 
applicable local housing need figure for Cotswold district has not changed significantly.  

 

6.23 Therefore, having reviewed the evidence relevant to the applicable local housing need figure, 

the report concludes that there has not been a significant change from an evidence-based 

analytical perspective. 

 

6.24 However, it is also important to consider whether it would be reasonable to conclude that 

there had been a significant change from a planning perspective. 

Has the housing need increased significantly in absolute terms? 

6.25 The applicable housing need of 8,665 dwellings is 429 dwellings (4.95%) lower than the current 

applicable housing need of 9,094 dwellings. 

 

6.26 It could be argued that a 429 dwelling development in a single location is a large development 

site. Likewise, it could be argued that a one dwelling development would be impactful on its 

immediate surroundings. However, the real terms impact of the district-wide 429 dwelling 

increase is set against the Council’s development strategy (or simply the district), not a single 

development site or a single settlement. Furthermore, the measure is whether the change in 

housing need is significant, not the significance of a specific development site on its environs. 

 

6.27 The NPPF (2021) does not specify an absolute number of homes that is a significant change to 

the housing need. If the government had meant to include an absolute number on what it 

defines to be significant, it would have done so. As previously discussed, NPPF (2021) 

paragraph 74(c) is a reliable and useful indicator of what the NPPF considers to a significant 

amount of housing. This uses a percentage figure of the housing requirement and the measure 

of significance therefore reflects the individual circumstances of each local planning authority.  

 

6.28 The Housing Delivery Test Measurements between 2018 and 2021 identify numerous 

instances where under delivery of housing in excess of 400 homes a year have not been 

Page 74



39 

 

considered to be a ‘significant under delivery of housing’. In one example, Tower Hamlets 

delivered 802 dwellings less than its requirement of 10,146 homes for the three year period 

from 2018/19 to 2021/2253. The 802 dwelling shortfall is not deemed by NPPF (2021) 

paragraph 74(c) to be significant. 

 
Table 3: Authorities that have not significantly under delivered housing54 

Local Planning 

Authority 

2021 2020 2019 2018 

Barnet – 419 692 – 

Bradford – 486 – – 

Bristol, City of – – 766 – 

Camden – – 436 – 

Greenwich – 700 656 – 

Hackney – 424 617 – 

Kirklees 561 706 – – 

Lewisham 514 492 – – 

Milton Keynes – – – 679 

Southwark 670 – 495 – 

Tower Hamlets 802 – – – 

 

6.29 Using the NPPF (2021) paragraph 74(c) definition of “significance”, Tower Hamlets could have 

under delivered by as much as 1,522 homes (15%) of its 10,146 requirement and, in absolute 

terms, this still would not have been considered by the NPPF to be a significant number of 

homes.  

 

6.30 Further comparison is made with similar rural authorities to Cotswold District, which also 

have a large proportion of Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and / or Sites of Special 

Scientific Interest. This further demonstrates that even in these authorities, under delivery in 

excess of 400 dwellings per year would not be considered by NPPF (2021) paragraph 74(c) to 

be a significant number of homes. 

 

Table 4: Comparison with rural authorities with large percentage of AONB or SSSI55 

Local Planning 

Authority 

Percentage AONB 

or SSSI 

Housing Delivery 

Test Requirement 

15% of Housing 

Delivery Test 

Requirement 

Dorset 58% 6,758 1,014 

Wiltshire 52% 5,239 786 

South Hams 55% 3,385 508 

West Devon 54% 3,385 508 

Wealden 65% 3,179 477 

 

6.31 Although these examples show that upwards of 400 dwellings can be considered by the NPPF 

(2021) to not be a significant number of homes for a constrained rural authority, it is again 

important to highlight that these figures relate to a three year period. The change in housing 

need in Cotswold District relates to the 20 year Local Plan period. 

                                                           
53 See Housing Delivery Test: 2021 measurement 
54 Source: Housing Delivery Test Measurements (2018 to 2021) 
55 Source: Housing Delivery Test 2021 Measurement 

Page 75

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-2021-measurement


40 

 

 

6.32 To summarise, NPPF (2021) paragraph 34 does not provide an absolute number of homes 

that is a significant change. NPPF (2021) paragraph 74(c) provides a reliable and useful indicator 

of what the NPPF considers to a significant amount of housing. In accordance with paragraph 

74(c), as much as 1,522 homes can be considered as not being a significant number in an urban 

authority and 1,014 homes in a rural authority. However, the absolute number of dwellings 

cannot be considered in isolation. Determining whether there has been a significant change 

requires local context to measure the impact of the change and whether it is “large or 

important enough to have an effect or to be noticed”, as per the Oxford Learner’s Dictionary 

definition. 

Have any Neighbourhood Development Plan examinations found the housing need 

has changed significantly? 

6.33 NPPF (2021) paragraph 66 requires that (added emphasis): 

 

Strategic policy-making authorities should establish a housing requirement figure for 
their whole area, which shows the extent to which their identified housing need (and 
any needs that cannot be met within neighbouring areas) can be met over the plan 
period. Once the strategic policies have been adopted, these figures should not need 
retesting at the neighbourhood plan examination, unless there has been a significant 
change in circumstances that affects the requirement. 

 

6.34 Cotswold District has eight ‘made’ Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDP), none of which 

have sought to retest the Local Plan housing requirement56. The most recent NDP to be made, 

the Fairford NDP, includes a residential site allocation. At the time of both the NDP 

examination and the Examiner’s report, the local housing need of the District calculated by 

the standard methodology was 533 homes a year. 

 

6.35 A requirement of the Fairford NDP Examiner would have been to test the NDP against the 

NPPF (2021) and consider whether the housing need had changed significantly. However, 

neither the representations made to the Fairford NDP nor the Fairford NDP Examiner raised 

the change to the local housing need as an issue and the NDP was recommended for approval 

on that basis. The local housing need of the District has subsequently decreased from 533 to 

493 homes a year. 

Does the change in the applicable housing need prevent the delivery of the adopted 

Local Plan vision, policy objectives or spatial strategy? 

6.36 The change to the housing need does not affect the delivery of the Local Plan vision. Of 

particular note, the Local Plan vision expected that the Local Plan will have “supported the 
delivery of a range of housing that helps to meet the requirements of all sections of the 
community” and that, “The development needs of communities, businesses, and visitors will 
have been enabled taking particular account of: climate change and flood risk; the area’s 
internationally recognised natural, built and historic environment; and the provision of 
adequate supporting infrastructure.” 

 

6.37 The change to the housing need also does not affect the delivery of the Local Plan objectives. 

Of particular note, Objective 2a of the Local Plan is: 

 

                                                           
56 The eight made neighbourhood development plans are: Fairford; Kemble and Ewen; Lechlade on Thames; Northleach 

with Eastington; Preston; Somerford Keynes and Shorncote; South Cerney; Tetbury and Tetbury Upton 

Page 76



41 

 

Through establishing the District's OAN for the Plan period and allocation of land, 
provide an adequate supply of quality housing, of appropriate types and tenures, to at 
least meet objectively assessed needs. 

 

6.38 Taking account of additional dwellings that have been released to the market resulting from 

the net increase in bedrooms in communal accommodation, the District is expected to deliver 

9,904 dwellings over the Local Plan period. This is 810 dwellings (8.9%) more than the updated 

housing need of 9,094 dwellings for the Plan period. The Council’s Housing Land Supply Report 

has assessed the deliverability of sites in detail. This evidence demonstrates that the Council 

has a deliverable and developable housing land supply. 

 

6.39 When the Local Plan was examined, the development strategy was found ‘sound’ on the basis 

that housing delivery in the later part of the plan period would decrease in order to rebalance 

the extremely high rates of delivery earlier in the plan period. In so doing, the Local Plan would 

deliver sustainable levels of growth. Indeed, the District had not delivered anywhere near the 

average annual rates of growth in the first half of Plan period prior to 2011. Notwithstanding 

this, the annual delivery rates of housing have been, and are currently expected to be, delivered 

as envisaged at the time the Local Plan was examined. In accordance with the examined 

development strategy, the average annual delivery rate between 2019/20 and 2022/23 has 

fallen back down to around 350 dpa (or 366 homes a year if an allowance for the net increase 

in bedrooms in communal accommodation is included). 

 

6.40 Local Plans often include a larger housing land supply than the housing requirement in order 

to provide a flexible housing land supply in case any sites are not delivered or if there are any 

delays to the delivery of sites. For example, at the point of adoption, the extant Local Plan 

sought to deliver 9,614 dwellings (14% more than the 8,400 dwelling housing requirement). 

This has proven to be effective. The flexible housing land supply has ensured that the adopted 

Local Plan housing requirement and the updated housing need continue to be delivered in full. 

 

6.41 In summary, the change to the housing need does not affect the delivery of the adopted Local 

Plan spatial strategy, which is provided by Polices DS1-DS4. Of particular note, the current 

applicable housing need is able to be fully delivered in accordance with the spatial strategy and 

without an update to these policies. Furthermore, the Council is able to continue to maintain 

a five year housing land supply and pass the Housing Delivery Test. 

Does the change in the applicable housing need prevent the delivery of the NPPF 

(2021)? 

6.42 In determining whether the change in the local housing need is significant, it is helpful to 

quantify the impact of the increase in terms of whether the adopted Local Plan requirement 

continues to deliver the requirements of the NPPF (2021). 

 

6.43 Key NPPF (2021) policies include: 

 

Paragraph 11. Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. For plan-making this means that:  

a) all plans should promote a sustainable pattern of development that seeks to: meet 
the development needs of their area; align growth and infrastructure; improve the 
environment; mitigate climate change (including by making effective use of land in 
urban areas) and adapt to its effects. 

b) strategic policies should, as a minimum, provide for objectively assessed needs for 
housing and other uses, as well as any needs that cannot be met within 
neighbouring areas, unless:  

Page 77



42 

 

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a strong reason for restricting the overall 
scale, type or distribution of development in the plan area; or  

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole. 

 

Paragraph 15. The planning system should be genuinely plan-led. 
 

Paragraph 31. The preparation and review of all policies should be underpinned by relevant 
and up-to-date evidence. This should be adequate and proportionate, focused tightly on 
supporting and justifying the policies concerned, and take into account relevant market 
signals. 
 

Paragraph 60. To support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply 
of homes, it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward 
where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements are 
addressed and that land with permission is developed without unnecessary delay. 

 

6.44 Taking account of the increased housing need, earlier sections of this report demonstrate that 

the adopted Local Plan housing requirement(s) continue to deliver all aspects of these NPPF 

(2021) policies. The housing requirement also significantly boosts the supply of housing. 

Furthermore, adequate and proportionate changes to the adopted Local Plan are currently 

being undertaken in the Local Plan Partial Update to make further improvements. The 

increased housing need is therefore insignificant in this context. 

Summary of whether applicable local housing need figure has changed significantly 

6.45 National policy and guidance require relevant strategic policies to be updated at least once 

every five years if the applicable local housing need figure has changed significantly. The current 

applicable housing need for the Local Plan period is 9,094 dwellings. Analysis of a range of 

scenarios has been undertaken to establish the original applicable local housing need figure, 

which concludes Scenario 1 (8,665 dwellings) has the most justification. The 429 dwelling 

increase (4.95%) is equivalent to an increased average annual delivery rate from 433 to 455 

homes a year across the 20 year Local Plan period. 

 

6.46 Scenario 2, which also has reasonable justification, provides a change of as little as 324 

dwellings (3.69%). Scenario 6 includes the largest change (778 dwellings or 9.35%), although 

this scenario perhaps has the weakest justification of the six that were considered. 

 

6.47 National policy and guidance do not specifically define what a significant increase in housing 

need means. However, the meaning of significant (i.e. more than 15% of the housing 

requirement over the previous three year period) provided by NPPF (2021) paragraph 74(c) 

is a reliable and useful indicator of what a significant change to the housing need could mean. 

Whether there has been a significant change to the housing need also requires an 

understanding of whether the change is large or important enough to have an effect or to be 

noticed, which must relate to the local context. Ultimately, however, whether the change is 

‘significant’ is a matter of judgement for each local planning authority. 

 

6.48 None of the six scenarios that were tested increase the housing need beyond 9.4%. They all 

fall well below the 15% threshold that NPPF (2021) paragraph 74(c) indicates to be a significant 

proportion of the housing requirement. 

 

Page 78



43 

 

6.49 ORS has undertaken specific analysis of whether the local housing need has changed 

significantly. This finds that the original applicable housing need was based on a range of 7,800 

to 9,500 dwellings (equivalent to an average of 390 dpa to 475 dpa) with a midpoint of 8,700 

dwellings (435 dpa). The updated housing need figure (9,094 dwellings, equivalent to an average 

of 455 dpa) falls within that original range. Based on various different uncertainties with the 

calculating housing needs, ORS conclude that it is reasonable that this limited change will fall 

well within the margins of error associated with the estimates of the original and current 

applicable housing need figures. 

 

6.50 None of the eight Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) examinations have found the 

local housing need to have changed significantly, which is a requirement of NPPF (2021) 

paragraph 66. 

 

6.51 The change to the applicable housing need continues to enable the delivery of the adopted 

Local Plan vision, policy objectives and spatial strategy without an update to the adopted Local 

Plan policies. In particular, the adopted Local Plan policies deliver the increased housing need 

in full. 

 

6.52 The change to the applicable housing need continues to enable the delivery of the NPPF (2021) 

policies without an update to the adopted Local Plan policies. In particular, the adopted Local 

Plan policies continue to boost the supply of housing, enable plan-led development, pass the 

Housing Delivery Test and maintain a five year housing land supply. There has also never been 

a “has never been a ‘significant under delivery of housing’ in Cotswold District. 

 

6.53 In conclusion, the change to the local housing need is not large or important enough to have 

an effect or to be noticed. The adopted Local Plan housing requirement(s) already fully delivers 

the increased need. 

7. Conclusion: a review of the housing requirement 

7.1 The NPPF (2021) requires strategic policies, including policies that identify the housing 

requirement, to be reviewed at least once every five years to assess whether they need 

updating57. The Government has also established a nationally prescribed ‘standard method’ for 

calculating housing need.  

 

7.2 The Council undertook a review of its Local Plan policies, including the housing requirement, 

in June 202058. This found that it was necessary to consider the implications of the housing 

need figure resulting from the standard methodology to establish whether any strategic 

policies needed updating. 

 

7.3 In reviewing the housing requirement for the period 2011 to 2031, it is appropriate to maintain 

the housing requirement endorsed by the Local Plan Inspector (an average of 420 dwellings 

per year) for the period up until five years after the Local Plan was adopted. This equates to 

5,180 dwellings over the first 12 years and 4 months of the Plan. 

 

7.4 However, as previously noted, this figure did not allow for the increase of residents living in 

communal establishments as the supply of Use Class C2 (residential institutions) was 

monitored separately. This yields a need for 217 additional dwellings over the plan period (an 

average of 11 dwellings per annum). 

 

                                                           
57 National Planning Policy Framework (2021) paragraph 33 
58 A Review of the Adopted Cotswold District Local Plan (2011 to 2031) (CDC, 3 June 2020) 

Page 79

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://meetings.cotswold.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=1154&MeetingId=1310&DF=03%2f06%2f2020&Ver=2


44 

 

7.5 The overall housing need (including communal accommodation) totals 5,314 dwellings over 

the first 12 years and 4 months of the Plan. 

 

7.6 Based on the latest data, the standard method calculation identifies that the local housing need 

for the District to currently be 493 dwellings per year59. However, the housing requirement 

endorsed by the Local Plan Inspector applies until 31 July 2023 (together with an adjustment 

of 11 dwellings per year to ensure consistency in the way that the net increase in bedrooms 

in communal accommodation is now counted). The updated need figure will apply for the 

remaining Local Plan period. 

 

7.7 On this basis, the overall housing need for the 20-year period from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 

2031 can be calculated: 

 

Housing Need = 12 1/3 years x (420 + 11) + 7 2/3 years x 493 = 9,094 dwellings 
 

Or 
 

Housing Need = 5,315 + 3,779 = 9,094 dwellings 60 

 

7.8 The applicable local housing need figure is now 429 dwellings (4.95%) higher than the applicable 

figure at the time that the Local Plan was adopted (on a like-for-like basis). Whilst the Council 

does not consider this to be a significant change, it is appropriate to consider whether the 

housing requirement should be increased. 

 

7.9 The adopted Local Plan strategic policies identify a minimum requirement of 8,400 dwellings 

in Use Class C3 over the 20-year period 2011-2031 (equivalent to an average of 420 per year) 

and a separate requirement of 580 nursing and residential care bedspaces (C2 use class) over 

the 14-year period 2017-2031 (equivalent to an average of 41 bedspaces per year). Based on 

the Housing Delivery Test equivalence calculation61, the two policies represent a combined 

minimum requirement of 8,722 dwellings (an average of 436 dwellings per annum for the 20 

year plan period and 443 dwellings per annum from 2017 onwards). These figures were 

endorsed by Inspector that examined the Local Plan on the basis that it would meet the 

identified C2 and C3 use class housing need in full. 

 

7.10 This can be compared to the updated local housing need figure of 9,094 dwellings over the 

20-year period 2011-2031, which incorporates both C3 dwelling and C2 communal 

accommodation needs. Notwithstanding that the adopted Local Plan C2 requirement excludes 

the period between 2011 and 2017, the 8,722 dwelling adopted combined requirement (as it 

appears in the plan) is 372 dwellings (4.3%) less than the updated local housing need. 

 

7.11 The updated local housing need represents an average of 455 dwellings per year over the plan 

period, which is fractionally higher than the adopted Local Plan strategic policies, but the 

difference is only 2.7% (12 dwellings per year) compared to the average 443 dwelling per 

annum combined requirement from 2017 onwards. The strategic policies specify that the 

housing requirement is a minimum and a buffer of at least 5% is routinely maintained in terms 

of housing supply. The updated Local Plan strategic policies will continue to do so. 

 

                                                           
59 As calculated in April 2023 by the Planning Practice Guidance on Housing and economic needs assessment (DLUHC and 

MHCLG, updated 16 December 2020) 
60 Calculated using non-rounded figures from household projections and the standard method for assessing housing need 
61 “The ratio applied to other communal accommodation will be based on the national average number of adults in all 
households, with a ratio of 1.8” (para. 11 of the Housing Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book, MHCLG, July 2018). 580 

bedspaces = 322 dwellings. 

Page 80

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1012931/HDT_Measurement_Rule_Book.pdf


45 

 

7.12 The housing trajectory included within the Council’s Housing Land Supply Report provides an 

annualised estimate of housing delivery up to 203162. This is based on the current housing land 

supply of sites with planning permission, remaining Local Plan site allocations and an allowance 

made for homes delivered as windfalls. It does not include any additional sites that may be 

allocated by the Local Plan Partial Update. 

 

7.13 The housing trajectory estimates that 3,264 dwellings will be delivered between 1 August 2023 

and 31 March 2031, which, when added to the 6,407 dwellings that are expected to have been 

delivered between 1 April 2011 and 31 July 2023, will yield an overall total of 9,671 dwellings 

over the 20-year Local Plan period. 

 

 
 

7.14 In addition to the housing delivered over the Local Plan period, it is also expected that 233 

additional homes will be released to the market resulting from the net increase in bedrooms 

in communal accommodation developments over the plan period. These do not count towards 

delivering the adopted minimum 8,400 dwelling C3 housing requirement but, due to the way 

housing needs are calculated, they do count towards the updated housing need for the Local 

Plan period. In accordance with the Planning Practice Guidance63, they also count towards the 

delivery of the updated housing need. 

 

7.15 Overall, as of 1 April 2023, it estimated that the total supply of housing over the plan period 

that counts towards delivering the updated housing need will be 9,904 dwellings. 

 

7.16 Whilst the adopted housing requirement sets a minimum that is lower than the updated 

housing need, the housing supply clearly demonstrates that the existing strategic policies are 

                                                           
62 Cotswold District Housing Land Supply Report (CDC, 2023) 
63 PPG: Housing supply and delivery - Counting other forms of accommodation (Paragraph: 034 Reference ID: 68-034-

20190722 and Paragraph: 035 Reference ID: 68-035-20190722, DLUHC, 22.07.2019) 

527

393 400

503

597

755

910

807

311

376
348 350

391
353

319

416
439

536
515

425

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1,000

2
0
1
1
/1

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5

2
0
1
5
/1

6

2
0
1
6
/1

7

2
0
1
7
/1

8

2
0
1
8
/1

9

2
0
1
9
/2

0

2
0
2
0
/2

1

2
0
2
1
/2

2

2
0
2
2
/2

3

2
0
2
3
/2

4

2
0
2
4
/2

5

2
0
2
5
/2

6

2
0
2
6
/2

7

2
0
2
7
/2

8

2
0
2
8
/2

9

2
0
2
9
/3

0

2
0
3
0
/3

1

Cotswold District Housing Trajectory

Completed dwellings

Housing supply

Residual annual requirement

Residual annual requirement + 5% buffer

Average annual housing requirement (8,400

dwellings / 20 years = 420)

Housing trajctory year

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
d
w

e
lli

n
gs

Page 81



46 

 

likely to deliver sufficient new homes to meet the identified housing need over the Local Plan 

period in full. Having considered the evidence, on balance there does not appear to be 

justification for the housing requirement to be any higher than the identified need, and given 

the land constraints across the district, there could be argument for a lower requirement. The 

Council therefore does not believe that any increase beyond the identified need is justified. 

 

7.17 The Council has reviewed the strategic policies in this context, and based on a comprehensive 

and detailed evaluation has concluded that the housing requirement identified by Policy DS1 

does not require updating, particularly given that the development strategy of the adopted 

Local Plan is on course to deliver nearly 10,000 new homes. This is considerably higher than 

the housing need of 8,400 dwellings that was originally identified, and housing supply is likely 

to comfortably exceed the updated housing need of 9,094 dwellings based on the 

Government’s standard method for the remainder of the Plan period. 

 

7.18 Whilst the adopted housing requirement is lower than the updated housing need, the Council 

will continue to maintain that the housing requirement is a minimum, not a maximum, when 

determining planning applications. In this regard, the Council will consider whether any 

additional sites should be allocated for housing to provide further flexibility and/or to address 

ambitions contained within the Council’s corporate plan. 

Page 82



 

Opinion Research Services | Reviewing whether the housing need figure for Cotswold has changed significantly July 2023 

 

 

 

 1  

Reviewing whether the housing need figure 

for Cotswold has changed significantly 

Introduction and Context 

1. At the time that the Cotswold District Local Plan was adopted, the evidence showed an overall housing need 

figure of 8,665 dwellings for the 20-year plan period.  The updated housing need figure has been calculated 

to be 9,094 dwellings, which is 429 dwellings higher than the need that informed the adopted plan. 

2. Paragraph 33 of the Framework states that “Relevant strategic policies will need updating at least once every 

five years if their applicable local housing need figure has changed significantly”. 

3. Given this context, Cotswold District Council has commissioned Opinion Research Services (ORS) to consider 

whether the latest evidence represents a significant change to the applicable local housing need figure for 

their area. 

Reviewing the Housing Need 

4. Although the adopted housing requirement reflected a housing need figure of 8,400 dwellings at that time, 

it is important to recognise that this was never intended as a definitive assessment of the precise level of 

housing need.  Instead, the figure simply provided an estimate of the scale of housing supply that was likely 

to be needed in Use Class C3 (dwelling houses) over the plan period. 

5. The evidence-based for the figure was set out in the report “An Updated Estimate of the Objectively Assessed 

Housing Needs of Cotswold District” (NMSS, March 2016).  This concluded that 6,800 homes were needed to 

meet the demographic Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) but that it was necessary to consider whether an 

increase was needed to ensure alignment with economic growth. 

6. Although the report concluded that there was no need to increase the number of homes above the 

demographic OAN based on the most recent jobs forecasts for the Gloucestershire Housing Market Area, 

it was noted that the countywide forecasts had been relatively volatile given that a similar analysis 

undertaken 18 months earlier (in October 2014) had suggested that 1,300 homes would need to be added 

to the demographic OAN.  A similar adjustment at the time of the update would have yielded a total of around 

8,100 homes. 

Page 83



 

Opinion Research Services | Reviewing whether the housing need figure for Cotswold has changed significantly July 2023 

 

 

 

 2  

7. The study also undertook a ‘standalone analysis’ which considered the job forecasts for Cotswold District in 

isolation, which identified two ranges for the 20-year period 2011-2031: 

» 7,600 to 9,300 homes (with a mid-point of 8,400 homes) based on unadjusted jobs forecasts 

produced by Oxford Economics and Cambridge Econometrics  

» 7,700 to 8,800 homes (with a mid-point of 8,300 homes) based on an alternative scenario 

prepared by Nupremis, which adjusted for unlikely or implausible elements in both forecasts 

8. The latter range was considered to be more realistic, but it was noted that there was little difference between 

the mid-points.  

9. Given the concerns about the countywide economic forecasts, the assessment gave more weight to the 

‘standalone analysis’ and proposed that the higher of the two midpoint figures (8,400 homes) represented 

the most appropriate housing need figure at that time.  Clearly this was never a definitive assessment, but it 

provided a reasonable estimate of the scale of housing likely to be needed based on the range of 7,600 to 

9,300 homes that had been identified. 

10. Due to the inherent imprecision, all figures were rounded to the nearest hundred homes.  However, the 

subsequent report “The Objectively Assessed Housing Needs of Cotswold District” (NMSS, December 2016) 

presented the underlying analysis at Figure TA 21, and that identified an unrounded figure of 8,448 dwellings.  

This housing need figure related only to housing supply in Use Class C3 (dwelling houses).  It did not take 

account of the increase of residents living in communal establishments, given that the housing supply in 

Use Class C2 (residential institutions) was monitored separately.  However, the analysis also projected an 

increase of 366 residents living in communal establishments over the Local Plan period. 

11. The Housing Delivery Test measurement rule book now sets out a calculation for equivalising that increase, 

and Census data identifies an average of 1.807 adults per household as the relevant conversion ratio for 

Cotswold District.  On that basis, the identified increase equates to a total of 203 extra households, which 

yields a need for 217 additional dwellings based on the 6.55% rate that was assumed for dwellings without a 

usually resident household.  Including that additional need yields an overall housing need of 8,665 dwellings. 

12. Despite its specific nature, this figure simply provides an estimate of the scale of housing supply that was 

likely to be needed over the plan period, and in the same way as the original assessment rounded all outputs 

to the nearest hundred homes, it is appropriate for this figure to be considered within a range of 7,800 to 

9,500 dwellings (equivalent to an average of 390 to 475 dpa) with a midpoint of 8,700 dwellings (435 dpa).  

This was the applicable local housing need figure for Cotswold district at the time that the Local Plan was 

examined and subsequently adopted. 

Page 84



 

Opinion Research Services | Reviewing whether the housing need figure for Cotswold has changed significantly July 2023 

 

 

 

 3  

Standard Method Calculation 

13. The standard method was introduced when the Framework was revised in July 2018, based on a calculation 

set out in national planning guidance.  Transitional arrangements at the time meant that the newly 

introduced standard method did not apply to Local Plans that had already been submitted for examination.  

Given this context, it is important to recognise that Planning Practice Guidance [ID 61-062-20190315] now states 

that (emphasis added): 

Local housing need will be considered to have changed significantly where a plan has been  

adopted prior to the standard method being implemented, on the basis of a number that is 

significantly below the number generated using the standard method 

14. Whilst the standard method did not apply at the time of the previous examination, it is possible to establish 

the need that would have been calculated using the approach at that time.  Based on the relevant data for 

March 2016 (the date of the NMSS report) the standard method figure for Cotswold was 455 dpa. 

15. One of the aims of the standard method was to simplify the Local Housing Need calculation, and the net 

increase in bedrooms in both student and other communal accommodation is now counted using ratios 

based on Census data as set out in the Housing Delivery Test measurement rule book.  Therefore, it is 

important that any comparison also takes account of this need. 

16. Although the standard method figure (455 dpa) was higher than the housing need figure that informed the 

adopted Local Plan (430 dpa, taking account of the need for Use Class C2 and Use Class C3) it was within the 

range that had been identified (390 to 475 dpa).  Given that context, we can conclude that even though the 

Local Plan was adopted prior to the standard method being implemented, it was not on the basis of a number 

that was significantly below the number generated using the standard method at that time – so there can be 

no presumption that the local housing need figure will have inevitably changed significantly. 

17. It is also important to recognise that the standard method itself does not provide a definitive assessment of 

housing need, and that it too simply provides an estimate of the scale of housing likely to be needed.  The 

calculation uses two data sources to identify Local Housing Need – national household growth projections 

and the most recent median workplace-based affordability ratios – but neither of these is an exact measure 

and both are subject to uncertainty. 

Page 85



 

Opinion Research Services | Reviewing whether the housing need figure for Cotswold has changed significantly July 2023 

 

 

 

 4  

Household Projections 

18. The first input to the standard method calculation is growth identified by the official household projections 

for the local area.  This is based on past trends with a range of assumptions, and both factors introduce a 

degree of uncertainty. 

19. The Office for National Statistics (ONS) has improved and updated the population data that had informed 

trends in the 2014-based projections used within the standard method.  Revised figures suggest that growth 

originally estimated for Cotswold for the period 2008-2011 was around 30% too high, with original estimates 

for 2011-2014 being around 15% too low.  However, 2021 Census data suggests that estimates for the period 

since 2011 are likely to have overestimated population growth in the district by around 5% and the figures 

are due to be revised again later this year. 

20. Whilst we do not yet know how the figures will change, we can already conclude that the trends were never 

definitive.  We also know that the projected household growth will incorporate any previous uncertainties – 

so there will inevitably be some variability within the projections due to errors in the estimates of past trends.  

It is not possible to attribute a specific level of statistical confidence to the official projections, but it is clear 

that variations are inevitably to be expected within the projected household growth as a consequence of 

these uncertainties. 

21. The latest official projections provide variant scenarios that show the impact of assumptions, with high and 

low international migration variants resulting in household growth in Cotswold District being 10% higher or 

lower than the principal scenario, and domestic migration variants based on 2-year and 10-year trends being 

around 45% higher and 25% lower than the 5-year trend scenario.  There is clearly uncertainty surrounding 

the assumptions taken, which again demonstrates that projections cannot be considered precise. 

Affordability Ratios 

22. The second input to the standard method calculation is an affordability ratio, based upon median workplace 

earnings and house prices.  These figures are estimates, and the affordability ratio used within the standard 

method is calculated using provisional estimates for both.  Revised estimates for Cotswold district have 

differed from the provisional figures by up to 3% for earnings and 2% for house prices over recent years, so 

the affordability ratio is subject to a combined uncertainty of up to 5% due to the reliance on provisional 

outputs. 

23. Furthermore, the estimate for earnings is based on survey data from the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings 

(ASHE) which itself is subject to survey error.  Whilst the survey suggests that annual earnings in the Cotswold 

Page 86



 

Opinion Research Services | Reviewing whether the housing need figure for Cotswold has changed significantly July 2023 

 

 

 

 5  

have increased by an average of 3% per year over the period since 2011, the year-on-year changes have 

ranged from 6% points below to 10% points above this average.  These fluctuations are largely due to the 

uncertainties associated with the survey estimate. 

24. The most recent estimate of workplace earnings was for 2022, and that was subject to a confidence interval 

of between 5% and 10% (which means that actual earnings in the area may be up to 10% higher or 10% lower 

than the survey estimate).  Estimates for previous years have been even less precise with confidence intervals 

between 10% and 20% in some years, and the district having no estimates of annual earnings published for 

three years (from 2015 to 2017) as the ONS considered the data to be “unreliable for practical purposes”. 

25. On this basis, we can conclude that the affordability ratio is also subject to a degree of uncertainty – currently 

up to 10% associated with the confidence intervals for the survey data, and a further 5% due to the 

provisional nature of the estimates that are used. 

Establishing Housing Requirement 

26. The inherent uncertainty associated with assessing housing need is recognised by the plan-making system.  

Whilst the housing need figure provides an important basis for establishing the housing requirement, the 

requirement is routinely expressed as a minimum target.  Plans also make provision to deliver a higher 

number of homes than the minimum requirement, and whilst this aims to provide flexibility it also recognises 

that the assessed need is imprecise. 

27. In contrast, the housing requirement is a specific target that forms the basis for monitoring, and it is relied 

upon to determine the binary test of whether or not a five-year housing land supply can be demonstrated.  

Nevertheless, although the adopted housing requirement will be informed by the local housing need figure, 

it will have subsequently been subject to extensive scrutiny and testing through the planning process to 

ensure that it provides a robust and appropriate basis for the plan. 

28. The Framework does not require the strategic policies that set out the housing requirement to be updated 

whenever the applicable local housing need figure has changed.  It is only when such change is considered 

to be significant that the policies need updating.  This recognises that the local housing need figure is not a 

definitive measure, and that it would not be proportionate for any change (regardless of its scale) to result 

in policies being updated.  Instead, it is necessary to consider whether the identified change is meaningful. 

29. This was properly recognised by the Inspector that examined the adopted Local Plan, for the housing need 

figure was updated at the time of that examination – from 8,400 dwellings down to 8,100 dwellings.  Despite 

this reduction, the December 2016 report concluded: 

Page 87



 

Opinion Research Services | Reviewing whether the housing need figure for Cotswold has changed significantly July 2023 

 

 

 

 6  

The updated estimate of the Full OAN is 300 homes lower than the figure of 8,400 estimated in the 

March 2016 NMSS Report. That is a difference of 3.6% and as such is well within the error margins 

of this kind of analysis and typical of the changes that inevitably occur during the gestation period of 

a local plan. There is therefore no necessity to adjust the proposed housing requirement in the draft 

Local Plan  

30. This reduction of 300 dwellings could have resulted in a housing allocation being removed from the Plan, 

which would arguably have been a significant change.  However, the Inspector rightly took the view that the 

housing need figure had not changed significantly and therefore the housing requirement remained the 

same. 

31. In determining whether or not a change to the applicable local housing need figure is likely to be significant, 

it is important to consider the way in which the figure is derived and the nature of the underlying data.  

More specifically, it is necessary to recognise the uncertainties that exist in order to determine whether the 

scale of housing that is likely to be needed over the plan period has significantly changed from when the 

need was originally assessed, or if changes are more likely to reflect the variability that is inherent within the 

underlying data sources. 

32. Where there has been a change in the scale of housing likely to be needed, then evidently the applicable 

local housing need figure will have changed significantly.  However, when the changes fall within the 

anticipated variability of the data, any change to the local housing need figure is unlikely to be significant.  

Therefore, to determine whether or not any change is significant, it is necessary to consider if any change is 

beyond the likely range of uncertainties that would be inherent within the figures. 

Conclusions 

33. At the time that the Cotswold District Local Plan was adopted, the housing requirement was based on a 

housing need figure of 8,400 dwellings at that time.  However, it is important to recognise that this was never 

intended as a definitive assessment of the precise level of housing need.  Instead, the figure simply provided 

an estimate of the scale of housing supply that was likely to be needed in Use Class C3 (dwelling houses) over 

the plan period. 

34. Due to the inherent imprecision, the figure was rounded to the nearest hundred homes – but it was based 

on an unrounded figure of 8,448 dwellings.  That did not take account of the increase of residents living in 

communal establishments, which represented an additional need of 217 dwellings on an equivalised basis – 

so the applicable local housing need figure was 8,665 dwellings at the time that the Local Plan was adopted.  

Page 88



 

Opinion Research Services | Reviewing whether the housing need figure for Cotswold has changed significantly July 2023 

 

 

 

 7  

The updated housing need figure has been calculated to be 9,094 dwellings.  Although there is an absolute 

difference of 429 dwellings between the two specific figures, neither the original assessment nor the 

standard method calculation should be considered to represent a precise or definitive figure.  Instead, both 

figures provide a reasonable estimate of the scale of housing that is likely to be needed over the plan period. 

35. The original figure was based on a range of 7,800 to 9,500 dwellings (equivalent to an average of 390 dpa to 

475 dpa) with a midpoint of 8,700 dwellings (435 dpa).  The updated housing need figure (9,094 dwellings, 

equivalent to an average of 455 dpa) falls within that original range. 

36. The difference of around 400 dwellings is equivalent to a change of 4.95% and represents an average of only 

20 dpa.  Based on the various different uncertainties set out above, it is reasonable to conclude that this 

limited change will fall well within the margins of error associated with the two estimates.  Whilst there may 

have been some change to the overall level of housing need identified for the district, this is no more than 

would be expected as a result of the variability that is inherent within the underlying data sources.  Given the 

limited difference between these two figures, it seems extremely unlikely that the overall scale of housing 

needed in the plan period has significantly changed from when the need was originally assessed. 

37. Neither the Framework nor national planning guidance defines what level of change should be considered 

significant in the context of a change in the applicable local housing need figure.  However, the Framework 

identifies that a buffer of 20% should be applied “where there has been significant under delivery of housing” 

which applies where “delivery was below 85% of the housing requirement” (paragraph 73 and footnote 39, 

emphasis added). 

38. In other words, any shortfall must be 15% or more for it to be considered significant in that context. 

39. It would seem equally reasonable to assume that a change in the applicable local housing need figure should 

also be 15% or more for that to be considered significant, in the context of the above analysis. 

40. We have already concluded that although the Local Plan was adopted prior to the standard method being 

implemented, the standard method figure at that time was within the range identified by the evidence that 

had informed the Plan – so there is no presumption that the local housing need figure will have inevitably 

changed significantly. 

41. The updated housing need figure represents a change of less than 5% and that is far lower than the threshold 

of 15% that the Framework considers to be significant in the context of assessing housing under delivery.  

Therefore, we can reasonably conclude that the applicable local housing need figure for Cotswold district 

has not changed significantly. 

Page 89



 

Opinion Research Services | Reviewing whether the housing need figure for Cotswold has changed significantly July 2023 

 

 

 

 8  

42. Of course, it might be argued that 400 dwellings would represent a significant housing allocation if that was 

to be delivered on a single site.  However, in the same way as the Inspector that examined the adopted Plan 

concluded that it wasn’t appropriate for an allocation of around 300 dwellings to be removed when the 

housing need figure reduced, the same approach applies equally in the context of the latest figures. 

43. As the scale of housing need identified has not significantly changed, it would seem disproportionate for the 

strategic policies that set out the housing requirement to be updated at this time. 

Page 90



 

Council name COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and date of 

Committee 

FULL COUNCIL – 20 SEPTEMBER 2023 

Subject APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT MEMBERS TO THE AUDIT & 

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

Wards affected All 

Accountable 

member(s) 

Cllr Nigel Robbins – Chair, Audit & Governance Committee 

Email: nigel.robbins@cotswold.gov.uk 

Accountable 

officer(s) 

Angela Claridge, Director of Governance & Development 

Tel: 01282 623219    Email: angela.claridge@cotswold.gov.uk 

Summary/Purpose To appoint two appropriately skilled and experienced members of the 

public to be “independent members” of the Audit & Governance 

Committee. 

Annexes None 

 

Recommendation/s The Council resolves to: 

1. Appoint John Chesshire and Christopher Bass to the Council’s 

Audit & Governance Committee for a four year term, commencing 

immediately.   

Corporate priorities  1.1. Ensure that all services delivered by the Council are delivered to the 

highest standard 

Key Decision 1.2. No 

Exempt 1.3. No 

Consultees/ 

Consultation 

1.1. Head of Legal Services 

1.2. Business Manager – Democratic Services  

1.3. Deputy Chief Executive/S151 Officer. 

 

  

Page 91

Agenda Item 9

mailto:angela.claridge@cotswold.gov.uk


1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Full Council at its meeting on 18 January 2023 approved the action plan in response 

to recommendations arising from the Corporate Peer Review undertaken in 

October 2022. 

 

1.2  The Peer Review made recommendations that the Council needs to “reassure itself 

that its governance arrangements are robust including “Introduce two independent 

members to the Audit Committee in accordance with ‘CIPFA’s Position Statement: 

Audit Committees in Local Authorities and Police 2022’ good practice guidance”. 

 

1.3 Suitably qualified and experienced independent member(s) serving on Audit and 

Governance Committees can bring specialist knowledge and insight to the workings 

and deliberations of the committee which, when partnered with elected members' 

knowledge of working practices and procedures, ensure: 

 

 An effective independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk management 

framework. 

 Independent review of the Authority's financial and non-financial performance. 

 Independent challenge to and assurance over the Authority’s internal control 

framework and wider governance processes. 

 Oversight of the financial reporting process. 

 

1.4 The Chartered Institute of Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) recommend in their 

publication, “Audit Committees – Practical Guidance for Local Authorities & Police” 

(2022) the following: 

 

1.5 “Including co-opted independent members (also known as lay members).  A co-
opted independent or lay member is a committee member who is not an elected 
representative but recruited to join the committee. The objective of including such 
members is to increase the knowledge and experience base of the committee, 
reinforcing its independence.  Inclusion of lay members is a legislative requirement 
for authorities in Wales and for combined authorities in England”.  Where there is 

no requirement to (the position for Cotswold District Council), CIPFA recommends 

the committee includes two co-opted independent members. 

 
1.6 The reasons for CIPFA’s recommendation are as follows: 

 

 “To supplement the knowledge and experience of elected representatives in 
specific areas, such as audit or financial reporting. 

 To provide continuity outside the political cycle. This is of particular importance 
where membership of the committee changes annually or because of elections 

 To help achieve a non-political focus on governance, risk and control matters. 

 Having two co-opted members rather than one will allow recruitment of 
members with different but complementary knowledge and experience, increase 
the resilience and continuity of the committee. 

 

Page 92



Two co-opted members shows a commitment to supporting and investing in the 
committee. 
 
While including co-opted members can bring real value to the committee, care is 
needed to ensure that the arrangement works well, both for the co-opted member and 
for the other committee members. It is essential that the co-opted member receives an 
adequate induction and ongoing support to provide organisational context and to build 
working relationships”. 

 

1.7 Council, at its meeting on 15 March 2023, agreed to commence the recruitment of 

up to two Independent (non-elected) Members of Audit Committee, an associated 

recruitment campaign pack, and an annual payment of £1,000 

 

 

2. RECRUITMENT 

 

2.1 The role was advertised across social media channels with a positive response resulting 

in fifteen applications.  Following a robust selection and interview process, two 

candidates – John Chesshire & Christopher Bass, demonstrated that they met all of 

the requirements of the person specification for the role, and will bring appropriate 

expertise to the committee. Therefore John Chesshire & Christopher Bass are 

recommended for appointment.  

 

2.2 John Chesshire is a fellow of the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA), lives 

in Oxford, and is the Independent Audit Committee Chair for the London Borough 

of Hillingdon.  In 2019, John was awarded the CIIA Distinguished Conduct Award for 

a lifetime’s contribution to the internal auditing profession. 

 

2.3 Christopher Bass is a qualified management accountant, lives in Cirencester, and is the 

Operations Director for a West Oxon based company who manufacture healthcare 

and medical equipment. 

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

3.1 Costs associated with the allowance of £1,000 per annum to each independent 

member and training can be found from within existing revenue service budgets. 

 

4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

 

4.1 The Council's Audit and Governance Committee is defined by the Local Government 

Act 2000 and its purpose is to give assurance to elected members and the public about 

the governance, financial reporting and performance of the Council. The appointment 

Page 93



of independent members on the committee will assist and promote good governance 

and scrutiny of the committee. 

 

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

None. 

 

(END) 

Page 94



 

 
 
 

Council name COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and date of 

Committee 

COUNCIL – 20 SEPTEMBER 2023 

Subject AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION – REPORT OF THE 

CONSTITUTION WORKING GROUP 

Wards affected All 

Accountable member Councillor Joe Harris, Leader of the Council 

Email: joe.harris@cotswold.gov.uk 

Accountable officer 

 
Angela Claridge, Director of Governance & Development 

Email: angela.claridge@cotswold.gov.uk  

Report author As above     

Summary/Purpose To consider proposals from the Constitution Working Group for  

amendments to the Constitution to i) create a Standards Sub-Committee, 

ii) recruit up to two town or parish Councillors to advise Members in 

respect of hearings where the subject member is a town or parish 

councillor, and, iii) a change to the call-in arrangements for 

Cabinet/Individual Cabinet Member Decisions to reflect a the Council’s 

political balance arising from the May 2023 local elections. 

Annexes None 

Recommendation(s) That Council resolves to: 

1) Agree to establish a Standards Hearing Sub-Committee (of the 

Audit and Governance Committee). This would be a politically 

balanced 3-member sub-committee with membership appointed 

by the Committee each year.  

2) Instruct the Director of Governance & Development (Monitoring 

Officer) to recruit up to two town and parish council 

representatives to act as a non-voting consultee(s) at hearings to 

determine whether a town or parish councillor has breached their 

council’s code of conduct. 

3) Authorise the Director of Governance & Development 

(Monitoring Officer) to update i) Part B, Article 8 of the 

Constitution with consequential amendments to the Audit & 

Governance Committee’s membership  

Page 95

Agenda Item 10

mailto:angela.claridge@cotswold.gov.uk


 

 
 
 

4)  Authorise the Director of Governance & Development 

(Monitoring Officer) to update Part D6, paragraph 4.13, Overview 

& Scrutiny Procedure Rules. 

Corporate priorities  Deliver the highest standard of service 

 

Key Decision NO 

Exempt NO  

Consultees/ 
Consultation  

Elected Members of the Constitution Working Group (Cllrs M Evemy, D 
Fowles, J Harris, J Layton, N Robbins and L Wilkins) 

Local Management Team;  

Business Manager, Democratic Services, and; 

Interim Head of Legal Services. 

  

Page 96



 

 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 The Constitution Working Group has reconvened for the 2023/24 municipal year with 

revised terms of reference. Following the Group’s meeting of 27 July 2023, this report 

makes the following recommendations to Council:  

i) create a Standards Sub-Committee to hear allegations that an elected member has 

breached their respective Council’s Code of Conduct – if the allegations reach the hearing 

stage,  

ii) recruit up to two unpaid town or parish Councillors to advise members in respect of 

hearings where the subject member is a town or parish councillor, and,  

iii) a change to the call-in arrangements for Cabinet/Individual Cabinet Member Decisions to 

reflect the Council’s political balance arising from the May 2023 local elections. 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 The Constitution sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and the 

procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and 

accountable to local people.  

2.2 The Constitution must contain: 

 the Council's standing orders/procedure rules; 

 the members' code of conduct; 

 such information as the Secretary of State may direct; 

 such other information (if any) as the authority considers appropriate 

2.3 Members of the Constitution Working Group have considered a number of proposals and 

now recommend the following amendments to the Constitution to the Council. 

3. CREATION OF STANDARDS HEARINGS SUB-COMMITTEE  

3.1 The Council’s Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for promoting and 

maintaining high standards of conduct and for determination of complaints regarding 

conduct of Members including town and parish councillors. The majority of code of conduct 

complaints do not progress to a hearing stage as they are either dismissed with at the 

assessment stage or dealt with by way of a local resolution. 

3.2 Currently, if a code of conduct complaint progresses to the hearing stage (which hasn’t 

happened for over two years) the complaint would be determined by the Audit and 

Governance Committee, which comprises seven members, plus an Independent Person 

attending as a consultee without voting rights. 

3.3 A Committee of seven members plus an Independent Person is a very large body for 

conducting a code of conduct hearing, which could lead to any hearing being unwieldy. 

Page 97



 

 
 
 
Attendance at a hearing can be intimidating for attendees present providing evidence and/or 

answer questions at a hearing, regardless as to whether they are subject members, 

complainants or witnesses. A larger committee membership only serves to amplify this 

effect. 

3.4 The Constitution Working Group, at their meeting on 27 July, 2023, considered four 

options: 

1. Standards Hearing Sub-Committee (of the Audit and Governance Committee). This 

would be a 3-member sub-committee plus 1 non-voting Independent Person, with 

membership appointed by the Committee each year. The current political balance on a 3 

member sub-committee is 2 Liberal Democrat, 1 Conservative. Substitutions would be 

allowed from any member of the Audit and Governance Committee provided they have 

undertaken the relevant hearings training. 

2. Standards Hearing Panel (Panel of the Audit and Governance Committee). This would 

also comprise 3 members based broadly on political proportionality but with membership 

rotating from hearing to hearing from the members of the Audit and Governance 

Committee who have undertaken the relevant hearings training, plus 1 Independent Person. 

It would be possible to articulate the membership arrangements in such a way so that they 

would not be confirmed annually. 

3. Audit and Governance Committee i.e. maintain the current constitutional position 

whereby the Committee is responsible for conducting hearings in consultation with a non-

voting Independent Person. This is not recommended for the reasons given in para. 3.1. 

4. A stand-alone Standards Committee which would be politically balanced and appointed at 

Annual Council. The Committee could comprise 5 members and would take on all 

responsibilities relating to conduct/standards matters from the Audit and Governance 

Committee. The officer view is that the volume of workload associated with conduct and 

standards matters does not warrant the establishment of a stand-alone committee.  

3.5 The Constitution Working Group recommend option 1 - a Standards Hearing Sub-

Committee (of the Audit and Governance Committee).  Responsibility for promoting and 

maintaining high standards of conduct would remain with the Audit and Governance 

Committee. Additionally, Audit & Governance Committee will continue to receive annual 

reports detailing the numbers of code of conduct complaints received and the outcomes of 

those complaints, as well as any general learning that can be drawn from the complaints. 

4. TOWN AND PARISH COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVE  

4.1 A further option for consideration is in respect of hearings where the subject member is a 

town or parish councillor, an additional non-voting, but advisory, member to the panel 

Page 98



 

 
 
 
should be a town and parish council representative. This is the case at some other local 

authorities, is unpaid, and may be considered to be good practice.  

4.2 The Constitution Working Group is supportive of this approach and Council is 

recommended to instruct officers to seek nominations for the position of town and parish 

council representative. Interviews will be conducted by a panel drawn from membership of 

the Audit and Governance Committee and a recommendation made to Council to appoint 

the preferred candidates. 

 

5. CABINET CALL-IN RULES 

5.1 The Constitution Working Group are recommending a change to the call-in arrangements 

for Cabinet/Individual Cabinet Member Decisions following the change in the Council’s 

political balance arising from the May 2023 local elections.  

5.2 Call-in is the exercise of the power of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to review a 

decision in respect of any executive function that has been made but not yet implemented. 

The current arrangements are: 

“The power of call-in can be exercised by any three Members of the Committee, who must 

be from either (i) two political groups; or (ii) two from a political group and the non-aligned 

(independent) Committee Member; or (iii) one from each political group and the non-

aligned (independent) Committee Member”. 

5.3 The Constitution Working Group recommend that the Constitution should be updated to 

state “The power of call-in can be exercised by any three Members, who should be from 

two political groups or one political group and a non-aligned Member (if one sits on the 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee)”. 

6. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

6.1 Members are advised to adopt the recommendations for the reasons outlined in the main 

body of the report. 

6.2 Not amending the Constitution which would lead to a lost opportunity in terms of 

improving agile decision making, promoting transparency and ensuring robust governance 

arrangements. 

7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 None specifically arising from this report. 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Page 99



 

 
 
 

8.1 Full Council, through its responsibilities as set out in the Constitution, recognises the 

requirement to observe specific requirements of legislation and the general responsibilities 

placed on the Council by public law, but also accepting responsibility to use its legal powers 

to the full benefit of the citizens and communities in its area.  

8.2 The Statutory requirements relating to Standards matters are set out at Chapter 7 of the 

Localism Act 2011 (the Act). Section 27 (8) of the Act provides that Standards matters as 

referred to in Chapter 7 are not the responsibility of the Executive and thus all Standards 

matters are a Non-Executive function (i.e. the responsibility of Full Council). Under Section 

101 Local Government Act 1972, Full Council can arrange for the discharge of Non-

Executive Functions to a committee or sub-committee. 

8.3 There is a need for the Council to uphold standards of ethics and probity, receive and deal 

with complaints that a Member may have breached the Code of Conduct. 

8.4 Any non-elected Member of the Council included on a Standards Hearing Sub-Committee 

would be a Co-opted Member of the Council and, by virtue of Section 13 of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989, could not have voting rights.   

8.5 Additionally, non-elected Members of Council will be obliged to sign a declaration of 

acceptance of office, register their interests and will be bound by the Code of Conduct. 

9. RISK ASSESSMENT 

9.1 There is a risk of reputational damage that if the Council does not have appropriate 

arrangements in place for conducting standards hearings, which will be of interest to the 

local media. 

10. EQUALITIES IMPACT 

10.1 The Constitution is made available to all Members and the Public via the Council’s website 

and has been updated in line with the Accessibility Requirements for Public Sector Bodies 

Regulations (2018).  This means that it can be accessed by as many people as possible 

including those with impaired vision, motor difficulties or cognitive impairments. Where 

accessibility difficulties are encountered, the Council can provide a copy of the Constitution 

in different formats. 

 

11. CLIMATE AND ECOLOGICAL EMERGENCIES IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 Not applicable 

12. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

12.1 None. 

 

(END) 

Page 100



 

 
 
 

Council name COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and date of 

Committee 

COUNCIL  – 20 SEPTEMBER 2023 

Subject PETITION RECEIVED IN RELATION TO VISITOR INFORMATION 

CENTRES 

Wards affected Bourton Village, Bourton Vale, Campden & Vale, Stow, Tetbury East & 
Rural, Tetbury Town, Tetbury with Upton.  

Accountable member Councillor Tony Dale, Cabinet Member for Economy and Council 

Transformation 

Email: tony.dale@cotswold.gov.uk  

Accountable officer 

 
Andrew Brown, Business Manager for Democratic Services 

Email: Democratic@Cotswold.gov.uk 

Report author Caleb Harris, Senior Democratic Services Officer 

Email: Democratic@Cotswold.gov.uk 

Summary/Purpose For Council to consider a petition submitted under the Local Petition 

Scheme (Part F of the Constitution).  

Annexes Annex A – Petition titled “Save our Cotswold Visitor Information 

Centres in Bourton-on-the-Water, Chipping Campden, Stow-on-the-

Wold and Tetbury” 

Recommendation(s) That Council resolves to either: 

1) Refer the petition to Cabinet as the decision-maker for the request 

to be considered.  

2) Refer the petition to Overview and Scrutiny Committee for review.  

3) Note the petition and take no further action. 

Corporate priorities  Deliver the highest standard of service 

Key Decision NO 

 

Exempt NO  

 

Consultees/ NONE 

Page 101

Agenda Item 11

mailto:tony.dale@cotswold.gov.uk
mailto:Democratic@Cotswold.gov.uk
mailto:Democratic@Cotswold.gov.uk


 

 
 
 

Consultation   

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 The report presents a petition in relation to decisions taken by Cabinet on Visitor Information 

Centres (VICS) on 6 December 2021 and then on 17 July 2023.  

1.2 The report presents to Council the options for courses of action to take in response to the 

petition, in line with the Council’s Constitution.  

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 The Council’s Constitution includes a Local Petition Scheme (Part F) which enables residents 

of the district to submit petitions to the Council.  

2.2 Petitions can either be submitted on paper directly to the council offices or via the e-petition 

service the Council has on the website.  

2.3 A petition will be considered at Full Council if it reaches a threshold of 850 signatures by 

residents.  

3. PETITION IN RELATION TO VISITOR INFORMATION CENTRES 

3.1 The Council received a hard copy of a petition on 5 September 2023.   

3.2 The petition calls for ‘Cotswold District Council to reverse their planned funding cuts of 

£54,000 annually, to help save our Visitor Information Centres in Bourton-on-the-Water, 

Chipping Campden, Stow-on-the-Wold and Tetbury’ 

3.3 The petition has a verified number of signatures of 2093 and therefore meets the 

Constitution’s threshold for a Full Council debate.  

3.4 The options set out in the recommendation are in line with the Local Petition Scheme, and 

are consistent with the topic area being discussed.  

3.5 As Cabinet took the original decision regarding Visitor Information Centres on 17 July 2023, 

any reconsideration would need to go back to Cabinet as it is an Executive matter. Council 

can decide whether or not to refer the matter to Cabinet for reconsideration.  

3.6 A referral to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee by Council would involve the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee using its functions to investigate the matter concerned and/or make 

recommendations to Cabinet.  

3.7 Due to the agenda for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting on 26 September 2023 

being published prior to this meeting of Council, the petition would need to be considered at 

the following meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 31 October.  

Page 102



 

 
 
 

3.8 The petition organiser will receive written confirmation of any decision taken by Council. This 

confirmation will also be published on the Council’s website.  

3.9 A petitioner has the right to request that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee reviews the 

decision taken by Council if it is felt that the Council has not dealt with the petition properly.  

4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

4.1 The options for Council’s response are set out in the Local Petition Scheme. However, the 

options presented are in-line with the decision-making processes and the request set out by 

the petitioners.  

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The petition relates to a budget saving of £54,000 that was made by Cabinet. Funding is 

currently only provided in the 2023/24 budget for the first half of the financial year and will 

end on 30th September 2023.  If the Council wishes to continue to fund the VICs it would 

need to reduce costs and find savings from other service budgets.   

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 None other than those identified elsewhere in the report 

7. RISK ASSESSMENT 

7.1 In the event of the Council not responding to the petition, then this would be in breach of 

scheme set out within the Constitution.  

8. EQUALITIES IMPACT 

8.1 This report does not have a negative impact on equalities. The local petition scheme process 

enables residents to engage with the council on concerns within the District.   

9. CLIMATE AND ECOLOGICAL EMERGENCIES IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 There are no significant impacts arising from this report.  

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

10.1 None 

 

(END) 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 105

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 Establishment of a Working Group for Boundary Reviews
	Annex A: Draft Boundary Review Working Group Terms of Reference

	8 A review of the Cotswold District Local Plan housing requirement
	ANNEX A. Review of Cotswold District Local Plan 2011-2031 Housing Requirement (CDC, August 2023)
	ANNEX B. Reviewing whether housing need has significantly changed (ORS, July 2023)

	9 Appointment of two Independent Persons to the Audit & Governance Committee
	10 Amendments to the Constitution - Recommendations of the Constitution Working Group
	11 Petition received in relation to Visitor Information Centres
	15 Exempt minutes from the meeting on 19th July 2023

